MOLECULAR DETECTION AND GENETIC DIVERSITY OF ROTAVIRUS A IN DOMESTIC DOGS AND CATS IN BANGKOK, THAILAND



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Veterinary Public Health Department of Veterinary Public Health FACULTY OF VETERINARY SCIENCE Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2021 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

การตรวจพิสูจน์และความหลากหลายทางพันธุกรรมของโรตาไวรัสเอในสุนัขและแมว ในจังหวัด กรุงเทพมหานคร ประเทศไทย



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาสัตวแพทยสาธารณสุข ภาควิชาสัตวแพทยสาธารณสุข คณะสัตวแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2564 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	MOLECULAR DETECTION AND GENETIC DIVERSITY OF
	ROTAVIRUS A IN DOMESTIC DOGS AND CATS IN
	BANGKOK, THAILAND
Ву	Mr. Ekkapat Chamsai
Field of Study	Veterinary Public Health
Thesis Advisor	Professor ALONGKORN AMONSIN, D.V.M., Ph.D.

Accepted by the FACULTY OF VETERINARY SCIENCE, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Master of Science

Dean of the FACULTY OF

VETERINARY SCIENCE

(Professor SANIPA SURADHAT, D.V.M., Ph.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

_____Chairman

(Professor RUNGTIP CHUANCHUEN, D.V.M., M.S., Ph.D.)

_____ Thesis Advisor

(Professor ALONGKORN AMONSIN, D.V.M., Ph.D.)

Examiner

(Assistant Professor TARADON LUANGTONGKUM, D.V.M.,

Ph.D.)

..... Examiner

(Associate Professor AUNYARATANA THONTIRAVONG,

D.V.M., M.S., Ph.D.)

..... External Examiner

(Assistant Professor KAMOL SUWANNAKARN, Ph.D.)

เอกพัทธ์ แจ่มใส : การตรวจพิสูจน์และความหลากหลายทางพันธุกรรมของโรตาไวรัสเอในสุนัขและแมว ในจังหวัด กรุงเทพมหานคร ประเทศไทย. (MOLECULAR DETECTION AND GENETIC DIVERSITY OF ROTAVIRUS A IN DOMESTIC DOGS AND CATS IN BANGKOK, THAILAND) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : ศ. น.สพ.ดร.อลงกร อมรศิลป์

เชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอ เป็นเชื้อก่อโรคที่มีความสำคัญและก่อให้เกิดกลุ่มอาการทางเดินอาหารอักเสบในคนและสัตว์หลายชนิด เนื่องจากเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอมีความสามารถในการติดเชื้อจากสัตว์สู่คนได้ จึงมีความสำคัญและควรเฝ้าระวัง โดยเฉพาะในสัตว์ที่มีความใกล้ชิดกับ ้คน เช่น สุนัขและแมว เป็นต้น การศึกษานี้มีวัตถุประสงค์เพื่อหาอุบัติการณ์ของเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอในสุนัขและแมว รวมถึงหาความหลากหลายทาง พันธุกรรม และความสัมพันธ์ทางพันธุกรรมของเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอ ในสุนัข แมว และสัตว์ชนิดต่างๆ รวมทั้งคน การศึกษานี้ได้เก็บตัวอย่างป้าย ทวารหนักจากสุนัขและแมว ในโรงพยาบาลสัตว์ ในเขตกรุงเทพมหานครและปริมณฑล ระหว่างเดือนมกราคม พ.ศ.2563 ถึงเดือนมิถุนายน พ.ศ.2564 รวมทั้งหมด 572 ตัวอย่าง ผลการตรวจพิสูจน์หาเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอ ในสุนัขและแมว ด้วยวิธี conventional one-step RT-PCR พบ อบัติการณ์ของเชื้อไวรัส 1.92% (11/572) ในสุนัขและแมว โดยแบ่งเป็น 2.75% (8/290) ในสุนัข และ 1.06% (3/282) ในแมว โดยอายุอาจ เป็นปัจจัยเสี่ยงที่สำคัญต่อการติดเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอในสุนัข แต่ผลของปัจจัยเสี่ยงในแมวยังไม่ชัดเจน นอกจากนี้การพบเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอในแมว เป็นรายงานการพบเชื้อไวรัสเป็นครั้งแรกในประเทศไทย การศึกษานี้ได้ถอดรหัสพันธุกรรมทั้งหมดของเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอ จากสุนัขจำนวน 2 ้ตัวอย่าง และเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอ จากแมวจำนวน 1 ตัวอย่าง ด้วยวิธี nanopore sequencing โดยผลการถอดรหัสพันธุกรรมพบว่า เชื้อโรตาไวรัส เอทั้งหมดจัดอยู่ในจิโนไทป์ G3P[3] โดยรหัสพันธุกรรมทั้งหมดของเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอในสนัขมีรูปแบบจิโนไทป์ G3-P[3]-I3-R3-C3-M3-A9-N2-T3-E3-H6 ส่วนโรตาไวรัสเอในแมวมีรูปแบบจิโนไทป์ G3-P[3]-I8-R3-C3-M3-A9-N3-T3-E3-H6 และเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอในสุนัขและแมวนี้ ถูกจัดอยู่ใน กลุ่มจีโนไทป์ AU-1 และมีการแลกเปลี่ยนสารพันธุกรรมของเชื้อไวรัสจากกลุ่มจีโนไทป์อื่น ซึ่งจากผลการวิเคราะห์รหัสพันธุกรรมพบว่า เชื้อโรตา ไวรัสเอในสุนัขมีพันธุกรรมคล้ายกับเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอในสุนัขจากงานวิจัยล่าสุดในประเทศไทย ใน 9 ยีนหลัก ยกเว้นยืน VP6 และ NSP3 ที่มีความ คล้ายกับเชื้อตาไวรัสเอที่พบในคนและเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอที่พบในแมว ตามลำดับ และผลการวิเคราะห์ด้วยวิธี bootscan analysis ยังสนับสนุนถึง ความเป็นไปได้ของการแลกเปลี่ยนสารพันธุกรรมของเชื้อไวรัสเหล่านี้ ส่วนผลการวิเคราะห์รหัสพันธุกรรมของเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอในแมว พบว่า เชื้อ ไวรัสมีความคล้ายกับเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอในค้างคาว คน และสัตว์ตระกูลลิง และเมื่อวิเคราะห์ด้วยวิธี bootscan analysis ก็ยืนยันถึงความเป็นไป ได้ของการเกิดการแลกเปลี่ยนสารพันธุกรรมของเชื้อไวรัสจากไวรัสในสัตว์แต่ละชนิดเหล่านั้น อย่างไรก็ตามเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอในแมวในการศึกษานี้ ไม่มีความใกล้เคียงกับเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอในแมวจากการศึกษาอื่นๆ จึงอาจสันนิษฐานได้ว่าเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอที่พบในแมว อาจได้รับการถ่ายทอดมา จากสัตว์ชนิดอื่น และอาจเกิดการแลกเปลี่ยนสารพันธุกรรมของเชื้อไวรัสในสัตว์ชนิดนั้น โดยสรุปการศึกษานี้พบอุบัติการณ์ของเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอ ในสุนัขและแมว และพบหลักฐานการเกิดการแลกเปลี่ยนสารพันธุกรรม, การแพร่เชื้อไวรัสจากสัตว์ชนิดหนึ่งไปสู่อีกชนิดหนึ่ง รวมถึงความเป็นไป ได้ของการแพร่เชื้อไวรัสจากสัตว์สู่คนด้วย เพราะฉะนั้นจึงควรเพิ่มความตระหนักถึงเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอในสุนัขและแมวในด้านสาธารณสุข และควร มีการศึกษาเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอในสุนัขและแมวเพิ่มเติมเป็นวงกว้างขึ้นเพื่อทราบข้อมูลความชุก การแพร่กระจาย และความรุนแรงของเชื้อไวรัส รวมถึงควรมีการศึกษาเฝ้าระวังเพิ่มเติมของเชื้อโรตาไวรัสเอในค้างคาว สัตว์ตระกูลลิง และสัตว์ป่าชนิดอื่นๆ เพื่อวิเคราะห์หาต้นกำเนิดและ **เลงกรณมหาวิทย**ำลัย วิวัฒนาการของเชื้อไวรัสต่อไปในอนาคต

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

สาขาวิชา ปีการศึกษา สัตวแพทยสาธารณสุข 2564 ลายมือชื่อนิสิต ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก

6270005731 : MAJOR VETERINARY PUBLIC HEALTH

KEYWORD:

Rotavirus A / dog / cat / occurrence / genetic diversity / Bangkok / Thailand Ekkapat Chamsai : MOLECULAR DETECTION AND GENETIC DIVERSITY OF ROTAVIRUS A IN DOMESTIC DOGS AND CATS IN BANGKOK, THAILAND. Advisor: Prof. ALONGKORN AMONSIN, D.V.M., Ph.D.

Rotavirus A (RVA) in one of the important pathogens causing gastroenteritis in humans and many animal species. The zoonotic potential of RVA has been reported and raises major concerns, especially in high animal-human interfaces settings. The objectives of this thesis were to determine the occurrence of RVAs in dogs and cats, and to investigate the genetic diversity and genetic relationship among RVAs in dogs, cats, human, and other animal species. The total of 572 rectal swab samples were collected from dogs and cats in animal hospitals, in Bangkok and vicinities, during January 2020 to June 2021. The conventional one-step RT-PCR result showed 1.92% (11/572) occurrence of RVAs in dogs and cats, which by species were 2.75% (8/290) in dogs, and 1.06% (3/282) in cats. Age of animals might be the risk factor affecting the occurrence of RVAs in dogs, but the result in cats is still inconclusive. Besides, our finding is the first report of rotavirus A in cats in Thailand. To characterize the viruses, two canine rotavirus A (CRVA) and one feline rotavirus A (FRVA) were subjected to whole genome sequencing by nanopore sequencing. Our results showed all 3 viruses were classified as RVA genotype G3P[3]. Genetic constellation of RVAs, CRVAs had G3-P[3]-I3-R3-C3-M3-A9-N2-T3-E3-H6 genotype, while FRVA had G3-P[3]-I8-R3-C3-M3-A9-N3-T3-E3-H6 genotype. Notably, RVAs in this study had the AU-1 genetic constellation backbone with reassortment. The results of genetic analysis showed that CRVAs were closely related and had high nucleotide identities to CRVAs from previous reported in Thailand, except VP6 gene and NSP3 gene which were closely related to RVAs in human and cat, respectively. The result of bootscan analysis supported the possible reassortment of RVAs from dog, human, and cat in the CRVAs. While FRVA in this study was closely related and had high nucleotide identities to RVAs in human, bat, and simian. The result of bootscan analysis also supported the possible reassortment of this FRVA. Meanwhile, none of any segments of this FRVA were closely related to cat's reference strain, indicating possible interspecies transmission of FRVA in intermediate animal species to cat, and the reassortment event of RVAs from human, bat, and simian had occurred in that intermediate animal species. In conclusion, this study provided the occurrence of RVAs in dogs and cats, and suggesting the possible multiple reassortment, interspecies transmission, as well as zoonotic potential of the viruses. The public health awareness should be raised due to the zoonotic potential of CRVA and FRVA. RVAs studies in larger scale in dogs and cats in Thailand should be considered to determine the dynamic and distribution of the viruses. In addition, the studies of RVAs in bats, simian, and other wildlife species should be performed to analyze the origin and evolution of RVAs in the future.

Field of Study: Academic Year: Veterinary Public Health 2021

Student's Signature

Advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Professor Dr. Alongkorn Amonsin for all the support and advice for this thesis and also for my study life along these years. I also would like to thank the committee members, Professor Dr. Rungtip Chuanchuen, Assistant Professor Dr.Taradon Luangtongkum, Assistant Professor Dr. Aunyaratana Thontiravong, Assistant Professor Dr. Kamol Suwannakarn for the kindness and sacrifice of time to being my committee member.

Another big thanks will go to the staffs from CU-EIDAs (Center of Exellence for Emerging and Re-emerging Infectious Diseases in Animals) and Department of Veterinary Public Health in Faculty of Veterinary Science, Chulalongkorn University for all support and advice in hard times.

I also would like to thank the animal hospitals for kindly cooperation of samples collection in this thesis.

My family were also being thankful for the support, love and care in all of the time.

Finally, I would like to thank the Graduate School, Chulalongkorn University for the scholarship "the 72nd anniversary of his Majesty King Bhumibol Adulyadej commemoration Fund"

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Ekkapat Chamsai

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page	e
ABSTRACT (THAI)iii	
iv	
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)iv	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
TABLE OF CONTENTS	
LIST OF TABLESix	
LIST OF FIGURESxi	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	
Chapter 1 Introduction	
1.1 Importance and Rationale1	
1.2 Research questions	
1.3 Objectives of Study	
Chapter 2 Literature Review	
2.1 Virology of Rotavirus	
2.2 Genotyping of RVA	
2.3 Transmission, Diagnosis, and Epidemiology of RVA4	
2.4 RVA infection in humans and animals5	
Chapter 3 Materials and methods	
3.1 Phase 1: Sample collection from dogs and cats in animal hospitals in Bangkok and the vicinities	

4.3.3 Genetic diversity of RVA by phylogenetic analysis43
4.3.4 Genetic diversity of RVA by nucleotide and amino acid identities60
4.3.5 Genetic diversity of RVA based on genetic constellation analysis69
4.3.6 Genetic diversity of RVA by reassortment analysis74
Chapter 5 Discussion
5.1 Occurrence of RVA in dogs and cats in Bangkok and vicinity
5.2 Genetic diversity of RVA in dogs and cats81
5.2.1 Genotype of RVA in dogs and cats
5.2.2 Genetic constellation of RVA in dogs and cats
5.2.3 Interspecies transmission, reassortment event, and zoonotic potential of
RVA in dogs and cats
Conclusion
REFERENCES
VITA
จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย
Chulalongkorn University

LIST OF TABLES

Pag	ge
Table 1: List of sequencing primers used in this study16	
Table 2: Annealing temperature and extension time for each pair of primer used in	
PCR reaction	(
Table 3: PCR reaction mixture for RVA detection and sequencing used in this study20	l
Table 4: PCR condition for RVA detection and sequencing used in this study	ł
Table 5: Description of rectal swab samples collected by district and province	
Table 6: Description of rectal swab samples collected by month	
Table 7: Description of rectal swab samples collected by age	ı
Table 8: Description of rectal swab samples collected by sex	
Table 9: Dogs and cats positive of RVA	1
Table 10: Description of viruses subjected to whole genome sequencing	
Table 11: List of newly design sequencing primers used in this study	
Table 12: Annealing temperature and extension time for each pair of newly designed	
primer used in PCR reaction	
Table 13: Genotype of all 11 segments of RVA with complete genome sequencing in	
this study42	
Table 14: Summarize of RVA strains closest related to dog's virus in this study	
(RV25012, DC25170) by BLASTn analysis	
Table 15: Summarize of RVA strains closest related to cat's virus in this study	
(RV25045) by BLASTn analysis	1
Table 16: Nucleotide (nt) and amino acid (aa) identities between dog's RVA in this	
study (RV25012) and reference RVA strains65	1

Table 17: Nucleotide (nt) and amino acid (aa) identities between dog's RVA in this	
study (RV25012) and reference RVA strains (cont.)	66
Table 18: Nucleotide (nt) and amino acid (aa) identities between cat's RVA in this	
study (RV25045) and reference RVA strains	67
Table 19: Nucleotide (nt) and amino acid (aa) identities between cat's RVA in this	
study (RV25045) and reference RVA strains (cont.)	68
Table 20: Genetic constellation of RVAs in this study and reference strains	70



LIST OF FIGURES

		Page
Figure	1: Conceptual framework of this study	9
Figure	2: Location of animal hospitals in Bangkok and Nonthaburi included in this	
study.		.10
Figure	3: Rectal swab sample collection at animal hospital	.11
Figure	4 and Figure 5: Rectal swab procedure	.11
Figure	6: Detection of RVA by SuperScript™ III One-Step RT-PCR System with	
Platinu	ım™ Taq DNA Polymerase (Invitrogen™)	.13
Figure	7: Example of PCR product for sequencing of each gene segment	.15
Figure	8: MinION oxford nanopore sequencing device and MinION flow cell	.21
Figure	9: The MinKNOW software and Nanopore sequencing procedure	.22
Figure	10: Genome detective web software used for de-novo assembly	.23
Figure	11: Example of map to reference report by CLC genomic software	.23
Figure	12: Virus pathogen resource (ViPR) web software use for genotyping of RVA.	.24
Figure	13: Example of genotyping result from Virus pathogen resource (ViPR) web	
softwa	re	.24
Figure	14: Sequence alignment in MEGAX for phylogenetic analysis	.25
Figure	15: Example of phylogenetic analysis from MEGAX	.26
Figure	16: Example of pairwise distance calculation from MEGAX	.26
Figure	17: Example of genetic constellation of RVAs	.27
Figure	18: Example of vistaplot analysis from wgVISTA web software	.28
Figure	19: Example of bootscan analysis from SimPlot	.29
Figure	20: Bar charts of rectal swab samples collected by province	.31

Figure 21: Bar charts of rectal swab samples collected by month	32
Figure 22: Bar charts of rectal swab samples collected by age	33
Figure 23: Bar charts of rectal swab samples collected by sex	34
Figure 24: Phylogenetic tree of VP7 gene	48
Figure 25: Phylogenetic tree of VP4 gene	49
Figure 26: Phylogenetic tree of VP6 gene	50
Figure 27: Phylogenetic tree of VP1 gene	51
Figure 28: Phylogenetic tree of VP2 gene	52
Figure 29: Phylogenetic tree of VP3 gene	53
Figure 30: Phylogenetic tree of NSP1 gene	54
Figure 31: Phylogenetic tree of NSP2 gene	55
Figure 32: Phylogenetic tree of NSP3 gene	56
Figure 33: Phylogenetic tree of NSP4 gene	57
Figure 34: Phylogenetic tree of NSP5 gene	58
Figure 35: Vistaplot analysis between dog's RVA in this study (RV25012) and close	ly
related strains	76
Figure 36: Bootscan analysis between dog's RVA in this study (RV25012) and close	٩ly
related strains	77
Figure 37: Vistaplot analysis between cat's RVA in this study (RV25045) and closel	У
related strains	78
Figure 38: Bootscan analysis between cat's RVA in this study (RV25045) and closel	ly
related strains	79
Figure 39: Schematic presentation of possible multiple reassortment of dog's RVA	\ in
this study	87

Figure	40: Schematic presentation of possible interspecies transmission	of cat's RVA
in this	study	88



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

bp	Base pair(s)
cDNA	Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CRVA	Canine rotavirus A
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EIA	Enzyme immunoassays
et al.	Et alibi, and others
FRVA	Feline rotavirus A
ICTV	International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses
MEM	Eagle minimum essential medium
min	Minute(s)
mth	Month(s)
NA	Not available
PPE	Personal protective equipment(s)
RT-PCR	GHULAL Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RV	Rotavirus
RVA	Rotavirus A
temp	Temperature
WGS	Whole genome sequencing
yr	Year(s)

- °C Degree Celsius
- μg Microgram(s)
- μl Microliter(s)
- μM Micromolar



Chulalongkorn University

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Importance and Rationale

Rotavirus (RV) is a non-enveloped, double stranded RNA virus of the family Reoviridae, genus Rotavirus. The virus consists of 11 RNA segments encoding 6 structural proteins (VP1-VP4, VP6, VP7) and 5 or 6 nonstructural proteins (NSP1-NSP5/NSP6). Up to date, rotavirus can be classified into species A to H with other 2 proposed species I and J (Matthijnssens et al., 2012; Mihalov-Kovács et al., 2015; Banyai et al., 2017). Rotavirus species A (RVA) is the most important species causing gastroenteritis in many animal species as well as human especially in children.

In human, RVA infection causes severe diarrhea in children and can be fatal. Previous studies reported that about 50-60% of hospitalized diarrhea children age under 5 years old were infected with RVA (Parashar et al., 2006; Palumbo et al., 2009; Tate et al., 2012). Despite the use of rotavirus vaccine, there are still outbreaks of gastroenteritis from rotavirus worldwide especially in developing countries. The rotavirus outbreaks could be due to the emerging of novel RVA strains or reassortment of the RVAs from different origins. Some strains of RVAs have been reported as zoonotic potential (Banyai et al., 2010; Grant et al., 2011; Doro et al., 2015). In animals, RVA infection causing gastroenteritis has been reported in many animal species. RVA infection can affect the animal production especially swine and poultry industries (Saikruang et al., 2013; Otto et al., 2015). In dogs and cats, RVA can cause mild diarrhea in puppies and kittens, but mostly subclinical and self-limiting (Martella et al., 2010). It has been reported of inter-species transmission of RVA between dogs and children with severe diarrhea (De Grazia et al., 2007; Wu et al., 2012). Moreover, evidence of multiple reassortments of RVA between feline and human rotaviruses have also been documented (Grant et al., 2011). Since dogs and cats are usually interface with human and rotavirus can transmit by fecal-oral route, thus RVAs can spread easily and increase the chance of interspecies transmission or viral reassortment which subsequently generate novel strains of RVA with zoonotic potential.

There are several reports of RVA infection in dogs and cats worldwide. For example, some studies reported the evidence of interspecies transmission from dogs and cats to humans as well as the reassortment among RVAs (De Grazia et al., 2007; Grant et al., 2011; Luchs et al., 2012; Matthijnssens and Van Ranst, 2012; Wu et al., 2012; Otto et al., 2015). However, there is limit information of RVA in dogs and cats in Thailand. Thus, this thesis will be conducted to provide the status, distribution, and genetic information of RVA circulating in dogs and cats in Thailand. The information from this thesis will be useful for public on the awareness and risk of RVA infection in persons who have close contact with dogs and cats and will provide recommendations for RVA prevention and control in domestic animals and humans.

1.2 Research questions

- 1. What is the occurrence and distribution of rotavirus A (RVA) in domestic dogs and cats in Bangkok, Thailand?
- 2. How diverse of the genetic of rotavirus A (RVA) isolated from dogs and cats? Are there any reassortment among RVAs isolated from dogs and cats?

1.3 Objectives of Study

- 1. To determine the occurrence of rotavirus A (RVA) in domestic dogs and cats in Bangkok, Thailand.
- To determine the genetic characteristics and genetic diversity of rotavirus A (RVA) in domestic dogs and cats in Bangkok, Thailand.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

2.1 Virology of Rotavirus

Rotavirus (RV) is an icosahedral, triple-layered, nonenveloped, doublestranded RNA virus of the family Reoviridae, genus Rotavirus. The size of RV is 70–75 nm in diameter. The genome of RV consists of 11 segments of double-stranded RNA that encoded 6 structural proteins (VP1, VP2, VP3, VP4, VP6, VP7) and five or six nonstructural proteins (NSP1, NSP2, NSP3, NSP4, NSP5-6) depending on strains (Estes and Cohen, 1989; Pesavento et al., 2006). The classification system of RV is based on the antigenic properties of VP6. RV can be subdivided into eight species A to H and two additional proposed species (I and J) according to the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV) (Matthijnssens et al., 2012). Rotavirus species A, B, C, and E (RVA, RVB, RVC, and RVE) are known to infect humans and various animal species (Matthijnssens et al., 2011a). Rotavirus species D, F and G (RVD, RVF and RVG) have been recovered from animals, mostly from birds (Matthijnssens et al., 2011a). While rotavirus species H (RVH) mostly found in pigs (Marthaler et al., 2014; Molinari et al., 2014). The latest two proposed rotavirus species I and J (RVI and RVJ) were found in dogs (Mihalov-Kovács et al., 2015) and bats (Banyai et al., 2017), respectively. In present, RVA is known to be the most important species causing gastroenteritis in many animal species as well as human especially in children.

2.2 Genotyping of RVA

Rotavirus A (RVA) can be classified based on two classification system. The first classification system is based on the outer layer protein VP7 and VP4 which designated as genotype Gx[Px]. Another system for RVA classification by the rotavirus classification working group (RCWG) classify the virus based on 11 genes which designated as Gx-P[x]-Ix-Rx-Cx-Mx-Ax-Nx-Tx-Ex-Hx representing the genetic

constellation of VP7-VP4-VP6-VP1-VP2-VP3-NSP1-NSP2-NSP3-NSP4-NSP5/6 genes respectively, x indicating the number of genotype (Matthijnssens et al., 2008b).

From previous studies, the complete genome of RVA can be divided into 3 genetic constellations. The first constellation is Wa-like (P8-I1-R1-C1-M1-A1-N1-T1-E1-H1) in combination with different G-genotypes, such as G1, G3, G4 and G9), and is revealed as a porcine origin. Second, the constellation defined as DS-1-like (G2-P[4]-I2-R2-C2-M2-A2-N2-T2-E2-H2) has been associated with bovine rotaviruses. Both Wa-like and DS-1-like have circulated in humans worldwide (Matthijnssens et al., 2008a; Ghosh and Kobayashi, 2 0 1 1; Matthijnssens and Van Ranst, 2 0 1 2). Third genetic constellation is AU-1-like (G3-P[9]-I3-R3-C3-M3-A3-N3-T3-E3-H3) which is believed to have originated from cat or dog viruses (Nakagomi et al., 1990).

2.3 Transmission, Diagnosis, and Epidemiology of RVA

Rotavirus is known to be transmitted person-to-person by the fecal oral route (Butz et al., 1993). In developing countries rotavirus can also be transmitted via fecal contaminated water (Ansari et al., 1991). Rotavirus infection has a short incubation period of 1 to 3 days. The virus can shed for up to 48 hours before person exhibit clinical symptoms. High rates of asymptomatic shedding of rotavirus have been reported in young children. The virus can shed in feces for an average of 4 days and up to 30 days in immunocompromised patients (Dennehy, 2000).

For sample collection method, fecal collection is the gold standard for the detection of RVA but for convenient, the rectal swab is acceptable. There are many methods to detect RVA infection. Enzyme immunoassays (EIA) is one method usually use for the diagnosis of RVA infection and there are many commercial kits available. However, the sensitivity of the assay is low when compared to polymerase chain reaction (PCR) method. There are 28% more RVA detection rate of one-step quantitative RT-PCR (Q-PCR) compare to EIA (Zeng et al., 2008).

Previous study reported that the patterns of RVA infection could occur yearround and more frequent in low and low-middle income countries. While uppermiddle and high income countries, RVA infection is more likely to be seasonal. It has been reported that the seasonality of RVA infection relate to levels of country development more than geographic location or climate (Patel et al., 2013). In Thailand, the low-middle income country, the RVA infection rate is always highest during low temperature period around December to February (Khananurak et al., 2010; Chieochansin et al., 2016). The studies in Thailand showed that RVA can be infected in all age groups (2 months to 86 years) but mostly in the children less than 5 years of age. The most affected age is range between 12 months and 17 months (Intusoma et al., 2008; Khananurak et al., 2010; Kittigul et al., 2014).

2.4 RVA infection in humans and animals

In human, the most common clinical signs of RVA infection are severe diarrhea and vomiting, resulting in dehydration. It can also cause nausea, malaise, headache, abdominal cramping, and fever (Anderson and Weber, 2004). RVA infection in human can be varying between 28% and 59% in Asian countries (Nelson et al., 2008). The previous study in Thailand between 2007 to 2009 reported the prevalence of RVA as 28.4% in children with acute gastroenteritis (Khananurak et al., 2010). Another study between 2011 to 2014 reported 30% of RVA infection (Chieochansin et al., 2016). There are predominant genotypes of RVAs in human in Thailand, G1P[8], G2P[4], and G3P[8] (Khananurak et al., 2010). In zoonotic aspect, genotype G9P[8] that is the porcine-like genotype had been found in high percentage (22.2%) between 2007 to 2009 (Khananurak et al., 2010) and also the bovine-like genotype G8P[8] (13%) had been reported between 2011 to 2014 to 2014 (Chieochansin et al., 2016).

In dogs and cats, RVA infection causing acute gastroenteritis had been reported in many studies (Hoshino et al., 1981; Hoshino et al., 1982; Nakagomi et al., 1989; Mochizuki et al., 1997; Martella et al., 2001a; Martella et al., 2001b; Kang et al., 2007). In dogs, most clinical signs can be observed in pups less than 3 months of age and normally asymptomatic in adult dogs. The clinical signs cause by RVA in dogs are diarrhea, lack of appetite, and lethargy (Hoshino et al., 1982; Martella et al., 2001b; Kang et al., 2007). A previous study in Thailand found 3 out of 5 dogs positive with RVA without clinical signs (Charoenkul et al., 2020). In cats, RVA infection has been reported to cause both symptomatic and asymptomatic, but subclinical infection is more often observed. Mild and transient diarrhea is likely to be seen in kittens, especially in the kitten lack of colostrum (Hoshino et al., 1981). The prevalence of RVA infection in dogs and cats is varying. Previous study reported high prevalence of RVA infection in dogs at 39.7% (31/78) and even more in cats at 50.0% (23/46) (Otto et al., 2015). Another study in Thailand found only 0.7% (5/710) RVA positive with RVA in dogs (Charoenkul et al., 2020). Most studies reported about 2-8% prevalence of RVA infection in dogs (Ortega et al., 2017; Alves et al., 2018). In United Kingdom reported only 3% (57/1727) positive of RVA in cat feces (German et al., 2015). Worldwide, the predominant RVA genotype in dogs is G3P[3] (De Grazia et al., 2007; Tsugawa and Hoshino, 2008; Martella et al., 2010; Matthijnssens et al., 2011b; Doro et al., 2015; Mihalov-Kovács et al., 2015). In cats, G3P[3] and G3P[9] are recognized as feline genotype (AU-1-like and BA222-like genotype constellations) (Nakagomi and Nakagomi, 1989; Nakagomi et al., 1990; Martella et al., 2011). But latest study in United Kingdom reported the first G6P[9] detection in cats (German et al., 2015). In Thailand, there is only report of G3P[3] found in dogs (Charoenkul et al., 2020) but none of report in cats.

In zoonotic aspect, a few studies, genotypes G3P[3], G3P[9], and G6P[9] have been reported in humans in many countries. Genotype G3P[3] had been found in Italy (De Grazia et al., 2007), and Japan (Tsugawa and Hoshino, 2008). Genotype G3P[9], which is believed to be direct transmission from dogs or cats had been reported in humans in Japan (Nakagomi and Nakagomi, 1989), Israel (Silberstein et al., 1995), Brazil (Santos et al., 2001), Russia (Novikova et al., 2008), and Hungary (Bányai et al., 2009). Genotype G6P[9], which is potential zoonotic or reverse-zoonotic transmission between cats and people (German et al., 2015) had been reported in the United States (Griffin et al., 2002), Hungary (Bányai et al., 2003; Bányai et al., 2009), Japan (Yamamoto et al., 2011), Australia (Cooney et al., 2001; Diwakarla et al., 2002), and Tunisia (Ben Hadj Fredj et al., 2013). In Thailand, genotype G3P[9] in human has been reported between 2007 to 2009 (Khananurak et al., 2010) and 2011 to 2014 (Chieochansin et al., 2016). Another study in Thailand also reported genotype G3P[3] from children in Chiangmai (Khamrin et al., 2006).

The whole genome analysis of RVA in Thailand, RVA strain, G3-P[9]-I3-R3-C3-M3-A3-N3-T3-E3-H6 from human contains AU-1 -like genomic constellation with reassortment of gene 3 (VP6) and gene 1 1 (NSP5), suggesting possible re-assortment events between human and canine strains (Theamboonlers et al., 2014). The study of whole genome of RVA from dogs in Thailand revealed a genotype constellation G3-P[3]-I3-R3-C3-M3-A9-N2-T3-E3-H6 which is the novel constellation in dogs but had been reported in human before. This constellation belongs to the genotype AU-1-like with combination of 10 segments in Cat-like genogroup. This result can be speculated that RVA in dogs in Thailand could have originated from multiple reassortment or intra-genotype reassortment between human and animal RVAs (Charoenkul et al., 2020). Due to the zoonotic potential of rotaviruses, routine surveillance of rotaviruses will be useful for monitoring the emergence of novel strains of rotaviruses through interspecies reassortment between human and animal viruses.

Chapter 3 Materials and methods

This thesis composes of three study phases including Phase 1) Sample collection from dogs and cats in animal hospitals in Bangkok and the vicinities. Phase 2) Identification of rotavirus A (RVA) in dogs and cats by specific RT-PCR assay. Phase 3) Genetic characterization of rotavirus A (RVA) in dogs and cats by whole genome sequencing.

The conceptual framework of this study is shown in Figure 1.



Molecular detection and genetic diversity of rotavirus A in domestic dogs and cats in Bangkok, Thailand

Phase 1: Sample collection from dogs and cats in animal hospitals in Bangkok and vicinities, 2020-2021 Sample collection

- Rectal swabs collection from dogs and cats in animal hospitals (n=572)
 - Animal hospitals (n=8) with more than 20 cases per day
 - Rectal swabs collection from dogs (n=290)
 - Rectal swabs collection from cats (n=282)
- Rectal swab samples from dogs and cats of all ages, gender, breed and health condition

Phase 2: Identification of rotavirus A in dogs and cats by specific RT-PCR assay

- RNA extraction
 - GeneAll® GENTi[™] Viral DNA/RNA Extraction Kit (GeneAll®; Lisbon, Portugal) on a GENTi^{™ 32} (GeneAll®; Lisbon, Portugal)
- Rotavirus A identification
 - One-step RT-PCR specific to NSP5 gene

Phase 3: Genetic characterization and genetic diversity of rotavirus A in dogs and cats

- Whole genome sequencing (11 segments)
 - Dogs (n=2), Cat (n=1)
 - Whole genome sequencing (WGS)
 - MinION Nanopore sequencer (Oxford Nanopore Technologies; Oxford, UK)
 - Genetic diversity of rotavirus A
 - Genotype and genetic constellation
 - Phylogenetic analysis
 - Phylogenetic tree construction (11 segments) by MEGA v10.0 software
 - Nucleotide and amino acid identities
 - Reassortment analysis
 - Phylogenetic analysis (origins of each gene) by MEGA v10.0 software
 - Bootscan analysis (origins of each gene) by SimPlot v.3.2b software

Outcomes

- Occurrence of rotavirus A in dogs and cats in Bangkok and vicinities, Thailand, 2020-2021
- Genetic diversity of rotavirus A in dogs and cats in Bangkok and vicinities, Thailand, 2020-2021

Figure 1: Conceptual framework of this study

3.1 Phase 1: Sample collection from dogs and cats in animal hospitals in Bangkok and the vicinities

3.1.1 Study sites

In this thesis, samples were collected from animal hospitals located in Bangkok and Nonthaburi provinces. In total 8 animal hospitals were selected and included in this thesis. The animal hospitals were selected by 1) scale of the animal hospital in which average of 20 or more cases per day and 2) cooperation of owners, veterinarians, and healthcare workers. The locations of the animal hospitals are shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2: Location of animal hospitals in Bangkok and Nonthaburi included in this study.

• Symbol indicate location of the animal hospitals. Blue and pink zones zone represent Bangkok and Nonthaburi, respectively.

3.1.2 Sample collection from dogs and cats

Rectal swab samples were collected from dogs and cats of all ages, gender, breed, and health condition that come to have service at the animal hospitals (Figure 3). Rectal swab sampling was conducted by insert the cotton swab into rectum and rotate gently (Figure 4 and Figure 5). The swabs were placed in viral transport media (MEM; eagle minimum essential medium) and kept at 4°C and transported to laboratory within 24 hours.

In this thesis, the sample collection was carried out from January 2020 to June 2021 (18 months). The total of 572 rectal swabs were collected from dogs (n = 290) and cats (n = 282). The animal's demographic data, including age, sex and health condition were also recorded.



Figure 3: Rectal swab sample collection at animal hospital



Figure 4 and Figure 5: Rectal swab procedure

3.1.3 Sample preparation

Rectal swab samples were aliquoted into 200ul for RNA extraction. RNA extraction was processed by using GeneAll® GENTi[™] Viral DNA/RNA Extraction Kit

(GeneAll®; Lisbon, Portugal) on a GENTi^{™ 32} (GeneAll®; Lisbon, Portugal) following manufacturer's instruction. In brief, first, 200µl of aliquoted samples were put in the first channel of GeneAll® GENTi[™] Viral DNA/RNA Extraction Kit (GeneAll®; Lisbon, Portugal) to mix with the lysis buffer. The 7ul of RNA carrier was then added to the first channel of the kit to mix with the sample. The extraction kit was then put in GENTi^{™ 32} extraction machine (GeneAll®; Lisbon, Portugal) for further process, the magnetic beads in the kit were activated by the machine to extract the RNA from the sample and then eluted by the elution buffer. The extracted RNA was kept at -20°C until virus identification.

3.2 Phase 2: Identification of RVA in dogs and cats by specific RT-PCR assay

The RNA samples were subjected to rotavirus A (RVA) identification by onestep RT-PCR using specific primer to the conserve region of NSP5 gene of canine and feline rotavirus. The newly designed primers used in the RT-PCR assay were NSP5F (5'-ACAACGTCAACTCTTTCTGGA-3') and NSP5R (5'-GATGAATCCATAGACACGCC-3') which designed by Primer 3 plus program. The one-step RT-PCR for RVA identification was performed by using SuperScript[™] III One-Step RT-PCR System with Platinum[™] Taq DNA Polymerase (Invitrogen[™]). Briefly, one-step RT-PCR was conducted in a final volume of 10 µl comprised of 1.5 µl of template RNA, 5 µl of 2xReaction Mix, 0.2 µl of 10 µM forward and reverse primers, 0.4 µl of SuperScript III RT (Invitrogen, CA) and distilled water to a final volume of 10 µl. The conditions of the RT-PCR assay included a cDNA synthesis step at 55°C for 30 min, an initial denaturation step at 94°C for 2 min, following by 40cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 s, annealing at 52°C for 45 s, and extension at 68°C for 1 min, as well as a final extension step at 68°C for 5 min. PCR product was run in gel electrophoresis and the expected product size of canine and feline rotavirus A viruses was 209 bp. Figure 6 showed example of RT-PCR result for the detection of RVA.



Figure 6: Detection of RVA by SuperScript[™] III One-Step RT-PCR System with Platinum[™] Taq DNA Polymerase (Invitrogen[™])

Lane 1; 100bp DNA ladder, Lane 2; Sample 1, Lane 3; Sample 2, Lane 4; Sample 3, Lane 5; Negative control, Lane 6; Positive control

3.3 Phase 3: Genetic characterization of RVA in dogs and cats by whole genome sequencing

3.3.1 Characterization of canine and feline rotavirus A viruses

3.3.1.1 Amplification of canine and feline rotavirus A

In this study, the canine and feline rotavirus A viruses were subjected to whole-genome sequencing. To perform whole genome sequencing, each gene of RVA (VP1, VP2, VP3, VP4, VP6, VP7, NSP1, NSP2, NSP3, NSP4, NSP5) was amplified by using primers previously described. The primer sequence and size of amplified products of each gene are present in Table 1. Briefly, one-step RT-PCR was conducted by using SuperScript^M III One-Step RT-PCR System with Platinum^M Taq DNA Polymerase (Invitrogen^M) in a final volume of 10 µl comprised of 1.5 µl of template RNA, 5 µl of 2xReaction Mix, 0.2 µl of 10 µM forward and reverse primers, 0.4 µl of SuperScript III RT (Invitrogen, CA) and distilled water to a final volume of 10 µl. The conditions of the RT-PCR assay included a cDNA synthesis step at 55°C for 30 min, an initial denaturation step at 94°C for 2 min, following by 40cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 30 s, annealing at 45-53°C for 45 s, and extension at 68°C for 1-4 min, as well as a final extension step at 68°C for 5 min. PCR reaction mixture and

PCR condition are shown in Table 2, Table 3, and Table 4. Figure 7 shows example of PCR product of each gene segment and corresponding PCR product size. PCR products of each gene were then pooled together and purified by NucleoSpin® Gel and PCR Clean-up (MACHEREY-NAGEL™, Germany). In detail, approximately 7 µl of PCR product from each primer set were pooled together in 1.5 ml Eppendorf, 200 µl of NTI buffer was put to mix with the pooled PCR product for the clean-up process, then all the mixture was transferred to the spin column and centrifuged at 11,000g for 30 sec. for DNA binding process, after discard the filtrated, 630 µl of NT3 buffer was added for the silica membrane washing process, the mixture was centrifuged at 11,000g for 30 sec., after 2 times washed and discard the filtrated in each time, the spin column was centrifuged in 11,000g for 1 min for silica membrane drying process. Last step was the eluted process by adding 15 µl of elution buffer into the spin column, incubated at room temperature for 1 min. and centrifuged at 11,000g for 1 min. The eluted process was done for 2 times in each sample, so the final volume of purified PCR product was approximately 30 µl for each sample. The purified PCR products were subjected for sequencing by Oxford Nanopore sequencing device and Minion flow cells with Rapid sequencing kit (ONT, UK).

1kb	VP7	VP6	NSP1	NSP2	NSP3	NSP4	NSP5	1kb



Lane 1; 1kb DNA ladder, Lane 2; PCR product of VP7 gene, Lane 3; Negative control of VP7 gene, Lane 4; PCR product of VP6 gene, Lane 5; Negative control of VP6 gene, Lane 6; PCR product of NSP1 gene, Lane 7; Negative control of NSP1 gene, Lane 8; PCR product of NSP2 gene, Lane 9; Negative control of NSP2 gene, Lane 10; PCR product of NSP3 gene, Lane 11; Negative control of NSP3 gene, Lane 12; PCR product of NSP4 gene, Lane 13; Negative control of NSP4 gene, Lane 14; PCR product of NSP5 gene, Lane 15; Negative control of NSP5 gene, Lane 16; 1kb DNA ladder.

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

	-						
Primer name	Type	Sequence	Gene	Position(nt)	Product size(bp)	Species	Reference
RVA_VP1F_out	ш	GGCTATTWAAGCTGTACAATGG					
RVA_VP1R_out	£	GGTCACATCYAAGCACTC	LΥV	0000-1	0000	DOS, CAL	LNAROENKUL EL AL. ZUZU
RVA_VP2F_out	ш	GGCTATTAAAGGYTCAATG					
RVA_VP2R_out	£	GGTCATATCTCCACAGTG	2 LA	1-7/00	2100	DOS, LAI	LNAROENKUL EL AL. ZUZU
RVA_VP3F_out	ш	GGCTWTTAAAGCAGTATGAG	007	1 2503	2E01		
RVA_VP3R_out	£	GGTCAMATCGTGACTAG	CTV	10CZ-1	10C7	DOS, CAL	כחמוטפחוגטו פו מו. בטבט
RVA_VP4F_out	ш	GGCTATAAAATGGCTTCGCTCATT		0000	00000		
RVA_VP4R_out	£	GGTCACATCCTCTAGAAATTGC	VF4	0002-1	2200	DOS, LAI	LNAROENKUL ET AL. ZUZU
RVA_VP6F_out	ш	GGCTTTTAAACGAAGTCTTC	ADZ	1 12EO	1960	+~)	
RVA_VP6R_out	£	GGTCACATCCTCTCACT	01A	0001-1	OCCT V	DUS, Lal	CHALOEHKULEL AL. 2020
RVA_VP7F_out	ш	GGCTTTAAAAGCGAGAATTTCCGT	707		2001		
RVA_VP7R_out	£	GGTCACATCATACAATTCTAA		0001-1	0001	DUS, Lal	רוופוטבווגעו בן פו. בטבט
RVA_NSP1F_out	ш	GGCTTTTTTGAAAAGTCTTG		1 1 6 0 0	1	+~)	
RVA_NSP1R_out	Ж	GGTTCACAGTTTTTGCTGGCTAGG		00CT-T	0001	DUS, Cal	CHAIDEHRULEL AL. ZUZU
RVA_NSP2F_out	ш	GGCTTTTAAAGCGTCTCAG	NCD2	1-1031	1031		Characteria at al 2020
RVA_NSP2R_out	Ж	GGTCACATAAGCGCTTTC		1201-1	1701	DUS, Cal	
RVA_NSP3F_out	ш	GGCTTTTAATGCTTTTCAGTG	NICD2	1 1100	0011		
RVA_NSP3R_out	Ж	GGTCACATAACGCCCCTATAGC			0011	DUS, Lat	רומוחבווצמו בן מו. בחבח

16

17	Reference	Charconala 2020	רומוסבווגמו בן מו. בטבט	20200 -+	רומוספוונמו בן מו. בטבט	001 - to total	Denisch el al. 2014	
	Species	+~)	DUS, LAL	+~)	DUS, LAL	+~)	DOS, CAL	
	Product size(bp)	ZEO	001	002	007	070	040	
	Position(nt)	1 760	0C / - T	1 700	1-100	1071	1/0-10	
	Gene		7 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		CHCN		VP4	
	Sequence	GGCTTTTAAAAGTTCTGTTCCG	GGTCACAYAAAGACCGTTCCTTCC	GGCTTTTAAAGCGCTACAG	GGTCACAAAACGGGGGGT	TGGCTTCGCTCATTTATAGACA	ATTTCGGACCATTTATAACC	งกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ongkorn University
	Type	ш	с	ш	с	ш	с	
	Primer name	RVA_NSP4F_out	RVA_NSP4R_out	RVA_NSP5F_out	RVA_NSP5R_out	RVA_VP4_con3	RVA_VP4_con2	

	מנוו וא נכ	ווווחשושט באובו ווחום וווווים	וחו במרוו המו	וו טו טווווכו מאכט			
Drimor nomo	T, no	Cocciono	P	roduct size	Annealing temp.	Extension time	Doference
	adk I	adheuce	מבופס	(dq)	(J°)	(min.)	אפופופר
RVA_VP1F_out	ш	GGCTATTWAAGCTGTACAATGG		3300	0.01		
RVA_VP1R_out	£	GGTCACATCYAAGCACTC	٦٦٧	0000) 0†	4	LIAIDEIIKUI EL AI. ZUZU
RVA_VP2F_out	ш	GGCTATTAAAGGYTCAATG		0020			
RVA_VP2R_out	£	GGTCATATCTCCACAGTG	AP2	Z 100	0		Charoenkur el al. 2020
RVA_VP3F_out	ш	GGCTWTTAAAGCAGTATGAG	1/02	7E01		0 2	
RVA_VP3R_out	Я	GGTCAMATCGTGACTAG	Ch Ch	1007	7 o t	111111 C	כוומוטבווגעו בן מו. בטבט
RVA_VP4F_out	ш	GGCTATAAAATGGCTTCGCTCATT	VUV	3300	0.00	2 	
RVA_VP4R_out	£	GGTCACATCCTCTAGAAATTGC					רומוסבוואתו בן מו. בטבט
RVA_VP6F_out	ш	GGCTTTTAAACGAAGTCTTC	VIDE	1360	000	<u>.</u>	
RVA_VP6R_out	£	GGTCACATCCTCTCACT	017	0001		7	רוומוטבווגעו בן מו. בטבט
RVA_VP7F_out	ш	GGCTTTAAAAGCGAGAATTTCCGT	207	1026			
RVA_VP7R_out	£	GGTCACATCATACAATTCTAA		0001	ر + 0 ک		LIAIDEIIKUI EL AI. ZUZU
RVA_NSP1F_out	ш	GGCTTTTTTGAAAGTCTTG		1			
RVA_NSP1R_out	£	GGTTCACAGTTTTTGCTGGCTAGG	THON	OOCT	20 C		LIAIDEIIKUI EL AI. ZUZU
RVA_NSP2F_out	ш	GGCTTTTAAAGCGTCTCAG	NCDD	1031	78.0	1 20 min	Charactulated 2030
RVA_NSP2R_out	£	GGTCACATAAGCGCTTTC	ZJCN	1701) o t		רוומוסבווגעו בן מו. בטבט
RVA_NSP3F_out	ш	GGCTTTTAATGCTTTTCAGTG	NCD2	1100	E O°C	1 30 min	Charactulated 2030
RVA_NSP3R_out	Я	GGTCACATAACGCCCCTATAGC					
RVA_NSP4F_out	ш	GGCTTTTAAAAGTTCTGTTCCG	NCDA	750	۲3°ر	im t	Characteria de la 2020
RVA_NSP4R_out	٣	GGTCACAYAAAGACCGTTCCTTCC	+ 101				

Table 2: Annealing temperature and extension time for each pair of primer used in PCR reaction

18

	Ú ú. Ť			Product size	Annealing temp.	Extension time	Doference
	adk I	adheuce	מפוופ	(dq)	(D°)	(min.)	אפופווכפ
RVA_NSP5F_out	ш	GGCTTTTAAAGCGCTACAG	NCDE	002	U.04	2	
RVA_NSP5R_out	с	GGTCACAAAACGGGGAGT		001) 0 4	I IIIII T	Chardenkur er al. 2020
RVA_VP4_con3	ш	TGGCTTCGCTCATTTATAGACA		070	A E°C	2	Control of the Post
RVA_VP4_con2	с	ATTTCGGACCATTTATAACC	2 7 7	040) (†	I IIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIIII	מפוווזרון פן מו. בעד ו
		จุฬาลงกร HULALONG					



Mixture	Amount
RNA	1.5 µl
Forward primer	0.2 µl
Reverse primer	0.2 µl
2X reaction mix	5 µl
SuperScript III RT (Invitrogen, CA)	0.4 µl
Distilled water	2.7 µl
Total	10 µl

Table 3: PCR reaction mixture for RVA detection and sequencing used in this study

Table 4: PCR condition for RVA detection and sequencing used in this study

Step	Temp (°C)	Time	Cycle
cDNA synthesis	55	30 min	1
Initial denaturation	94	2 min	1
Denaturation	94	30 sec	
Annealing	45-53	45 sec	- 40
Extension	68	1-4 min	
Final extension	68	5 min	1

Chulalongkorn University

3.3.1.2 Whole genome sequencing of RVA by nanopore sequencing

technique

The whole genome sequencing of RVA was done by using MinION oxford nanopore sequencing device and MinION flow cells. The rapid sequencing kit (Cat#SQK-RAD004) was used to prepare the DNA library and the flow cells priming mix following manufacturer's instruction. In detail, first, the number of pores in flow cell were checked via the MinKNOW software to ensure the ability of sequencing, the number of pores should not be lower than 200 to ensure the quality of sequences. To prepare the DNA library for loading into flow cell, 7.5µl of purified PCR product were mixed with 2.5µl of fragmentation mix (FRA) and incubated in thermocycler at
30°C for 1 min and then at 80°C for 1 min and cool on ice, 1µl of rapid adapter (RAP) was added and incubated at room temperature for 5 min. 34µl of sequencing buffer (SQB), 25.5µl of loading beads (LB), 4.5µl of nuclease-free water were added to complete the loading DNA library. The flow cell priming mix was prepared by the mix of 30µl flush tether (FLT) with the flush buffer (FB). To start sequencing, first, 800µl of prepared flow cell priming mix was loaded to the flow cell and incubated for 5 min, then 200µl more of flow cell priming mix was loaded to the flow cell and then 75µl of prepared DNA library were followed, and the sequencing process was started via MinKNOW software. The MinION oxford nanopore sequencing device and MinION flow cells are shown in Figure 8. The MinKNOW software and Nanopore sequencing procedure is shown in Figure 9.



Figure 8: MinION oxford nanopore sequencing device and MinION flow cell

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

O Min MinKN	KNOW UI DW View									- σ ×
€	DESKTOP-MIVOKVG My device									
•	Start					SARsCoV2				
	Sequencing overview		11 Pause	Stop 🔗 Start MU	X scan 👲 Export	PDF				* Experiment group
~	Experiments	Position -	Flow cell ID -	Sample ID —	Health	Run time —	Run state —	Reads -	Bases —	Basecalled % -
P	System messages	MN37889	FAR49352	CV28108L_16-12-2021		4.7 h/72 h	Active	49.92 k	15.48 Mb basecalled 22.97 Mb estimated	83% (14% skipped)
٠	Host settings									Constitution N
		Chanr	nel states par	nel						
				Run state: sequencing						
							27 Sequer	icing		
							13 Pore	1		
		<					Recovered and Re	ring 4		
							28 Unclas	sified		
۵	Application settings					+ Show detailed				
*	Connection manager									
-	P Type here to search	9	n 💼 📼							∧ d0 ENG 1454

Figure 9: The MinKNOW software and Nanopore sequencing procedure

3.3.1.3 Validation and assembly of whole genome sequences of rotavirus A viruses

The Minknow software was used for sequence reading and basecalling process to converse the electrical signal (fast5 file) to nucleotide (fastq file), the minimum Qscore 7 was used to remove the poor-quality sequence from basecalling process. The nucleotide sequences were then assembled using de-novo assembly by detective web genome software (https://www.genomedetective.com/app/typingtool/virus) (Figure 10). The fastg file from MinKNOW software were uploaded into the web for process of de-novo assembly and mapped with reference RVAs in the web database. The nucleotide sequence of each gene segment of RVAs were retrieved in fasta file format. The fasta format nucleotide sequences of each gene segment were then BLAST with NCBI database to find the closest identity sequence to be the reference of each gene segment. Finally, CLC genomic Workbench software 20.0 (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) was used to map the original fastg file from MinKNOW software with the reference sequences by function map read to reference of the software (Example of report of map to reference function by CLC genomic Workbench software in Figure 11), at last, the consensus sequence of each gene segment of the viruses were exported in the fasta file format for further analysis.

Senome Detective	SUBMIT JOB MONITOR JOB DOCUMENTATION - PREMIUM LOGIN
1	Genome Detective
GENOME DETECTIVE VIRUS	TOOL Version 1.137
How Genor	me Detective assigns SARS-CoV-2 (the virus that causes COVID-19 disease)
	Read more
	Read more
GENOME DETECTIVE VIRUS TOOL VERSIO	Read more N 1.137
GENOME DETECTIVE VIRUS TOOL VERSION	Read more N 1.137 quences from eukaryotic viruses and phages. The taxonomic rank which gets assigned is based on
GENOME DETECTIVE VIRUS TOOL VERSION The Virus tool assigns taxonomic names to se availability of reference genomes in RefSeq, an	N 1.137 quences from eukaryotic viruses and phages. The taxonomic rank which gets assigned is based on is mostly at species level. At the moment 10105 distinct taxonomic names are assigned based on 13095
GENOME DETECTIVE VIRUS TOOL VERSION The Virus tool assigns taxonomic names to se availability of reference genomes in RefSeq, an reference sequences. Subtyping tools, for the la	Read more N 1.137 quences from eukaryotic viruses and phages. The taxonomic rank which gets assigned is based on tid is mostly at species level. At the moment 10105 distinct taxonomic names are assigned based on 13095 dentification of subspecies, are available for 17 viruses.
GENOME DETECTIVE VIRUS TOOL VERSION The Virus tool assigns taxonomic names to se availability of reference genomes in RefSeq, an reference sequences. Subtyping tools, for the i You can submit sequences/contigs or short re	N 1.37 quences from eukaryotic viruses and phages. The taxonomic rank which gets assigned is based on id is mostly at species level. At the moment 10105 distinct taxonomic names are assigned based on 13095 dentification of subspecies, are available for 17 viruses. ads NGS data. Up to 2000 FASTA sequences may be submitted at once. The free service only allows one

Figure 10: Genome detective web software used for de-novo assembly



Figure 11: Example of map to reference report by CLC genomic software

3.3.2 Genetic diversity of RVA

3.3.2.1 Genotyping of rotavirus A viruses

To identify genotype of RVA, nucleotide sequence of each segment were analyzed by the Virus pathogen resource (ViPR) web software (https://www.viprbrc.org/brc/rvaGenotyper.spg?method=ShowCleanInputPage&decora tor=reo) (Figure 12). The algorithm is based on the RotaC algorithm developed by Maes et al., 2009. Briefly, fasta file format of each gene segment were uploaded into the ViPR web program to identify and designate the genotype of RVA. The example of genotyping result is shown in Figure 13.



Figure 12: Virus pathogen resource (ViPR) web software use for genotyping of RVA

	otyper.spg?decorator=	reo&ticketNum	ber=RG_563	477138532&method=RetrieveResults				€ ☆	9	ò *
R	eoviridae	e Abo	utUs Commi	unity Announcements Links Resources Su	viP	R				
SEARCH DATA	ANALYZE & VISUA	LIZE WOR	KBENCH	VIRUS FAMILIES HELP		Workben	ch Sign In			
VIPR Home Reoviridae	Home Rotavirus A Geno	type Determinatio	n - Results					•		
Results of Gence	ier Segment Number	Gene Name	Genotype	Closest Strain	Query Coverage %	Ident %	E Value			
Sequence ruenur	5	NSP1	A9	RVA/Human-wt/BEL/B4106/2000/G3P14	95.96	83.29	0E0			
RV25012 NSP1	~									
RV25012_NSP1 RV25012_NSP3	7	NSP3	T3	RVA/Human-tc/THA/T152/1998/G12P9	86.55	95.61	0E0			
RV25012_NSP1 RV25012_NSP3 RV25012_NSP2	7 8	NSP3 NSP2	T3 N2	RVA/Human-tc/THA/T152/1998/G12P9 RVA/Cow-tc/USA/WC3/1981/G6P5	86.55 90.08	95.61 93.40	0E0 0E0			
RV25012_NSP1 RV25012_NSP3 RV25012_NSP2 RV25012_NSP5	7 8 11	NSP3 NSP2 NSP5/NSP6	T3 N2 H6	RVA/Human-tc/THA/T152/1998/G12P9 RVA/Cow-tc/USA/WC3/1981/G6P5 RVA/Simian-tc/USA/RRV/1975/G3P3	86.55 90.08 89.51	95.61 93.40 94.47	0E0 0E0 0E0			
RV25012_NSP1 RV25012_NSP3 RV25012_NSP5 RV25012_NSP5 RV25012_VP7	7 8 11 9	NSP3 NSP2 NSP5/NSP6 VP7	T3 N2 H6 G3	RVA/Human-tc/THA/T152/1998/G12P9 RVA/Cow-tc/USA/WC3/1981/G6P5 RVA/Simian-tc/USA/RRV/1975/G3P3 RVA/Human-tv/USEL/B4106/2000/G3P14	86.55 90.08 89.51 100.00	95.61 93.40 94.47 88.07	0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0			
RV25012_NSP1 RV25012_NSP3 RV25012_NSP5 RV25012_NSP5 RV25012_VP7 RV25012_NSP4	7 8 11 9 10	NSP3 NSP2 NSP5/NSP6 VP7 NSP4	T3 N2 H6 G3 E3	RVA/Human-Ic/THA/T152/1998/G12P9 RVA/Cow-Ic/USA/WC3/1981/G6P5 RVA/Simian-Ic/USA/RRV/1975/G3P3 RVA/Human-Ic/TBA/T152/1998/G12P9	86.55 90.08 89.51 100.00 70.40	95.61 93.40 94.47 88.07 91.29	0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0			
RV25012_VSP1 RV25012_VSP3 RV25012_VSP2 RV25012_VSP5 RV25012_VSP4 RV25012_VP7 RV25012_VP6	7 8 11 9 10 6	NSP3 NSP2 NSP5/NSP6 VP7 NSP4 VP6	T3 N2 H6 G3 E3 I3	RVA/Human-tc/THA/T152/1998/G12P9 RVA/Cov-tc/USA/WC3/1981/G6P5 RVA/Binian-tc/USA/RRV/1975/G3P3 RVA/Human-tc/USA/RRV/1975/G3P3 RVA/Human-tc/THA/T152/1998/G12P9 RVA/Human-tc/THA/T152/1998/G12P9	86.55 90.08 89.51 100.00 70.40 100.00	95.61 93.40 94.47 88.07 91.29 88.44	0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0			
RV25012_VSP1 RV25012_NSP3 RV25012_NSP2 RV25012_VSP5 RV25012_VSP5 RV25012_VP7 RV25012_VP6 RV25012_VP3	7 8 11 9 10 6 3	NSP3 NSP2 NSP5/NSP6 VP7 NSP4 VP6 VP3	T3 N2 H6 G3 E3 I3 M3	RVA-Human-Ic/THA/T152/1998/0312P9 RVA/Cow-Ic/USA/WC3/1981/03P5 RVA/Simian-to/USA/RV1975/03P3 RVA-Human-to/THA/T152/1998/032P9 RVA-Human-Ic/THA/T152/1998/032P9 RVA-Human-Ic/THA/T152/1998/032P9	86.55 90.08 89.51 100.00 70.40 100.00 97.97	95.61 93.40 94.47 88.07 91.29 88.44 94.06	0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0			
RV25012_NSP1 RV25012_NSP2 RV25012_NSP2 RV25012_NSP2 RV25012_VP7 RV25012_VP7 RV25012_VP3 RV25012_VP3 RV25012_VP3	7 8 11 9 10 6 3 4	NSP3 NSP2 NSP5/NSP6 VP7 NSP4 VP6 VP3 VP4	T3 N2 H6 G3 E3 I3 M3 P[3]	RVAHuman-tc/THA/T152/1998/0312P9 RVA/Cow+co/USA/WC3/1981/06P5 RVA/Simian-tc/USA/RRV/1975/03P3 RVAHuman-tv/BEL/B4106/2000/32P14 RVAHuman-tc/THA/T152/1998/032P9 RVAHuman-tc/THA/T152/1998/032P9 RVAHuman-tc/THA/T152/1998/032P9 RVAHuman-tc/THA/T152/1998/032P9	86.55 90.08 89.51 100.00 70.40 100.00 97.97 99.19	95.61 93.40 94.47 88.07 91.29 88.44 94.06 95.15	0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0			
RV25012_NSP1 RV25012_NSP3 RV25012_NSP2 RV25012_NSP5 RV25012_VSP5 RV25012_VF6 RV25012_VF6 RV25012_VF4 RV25012_VF4 RV25012_VF4	7 8 11 9 10 6 3 4 1	NSP3 NSP2 NSP5/NSP6 VP7 NSP4 VP6 VP3 VP4 VP1	T3 N2 H6 G3 E3 I3 M3 P[3] R3	RVA-Human-Ic/THA/T152/1998/0512P9 RVA/Cow-Ic/USA/WC3/1981/06P5 RVA/Silman-Iv/USA/RKV1975/03P3 RVA/Human-Iv/USA/RKV1975/03P3 RVA-Human-Ic/THA/T152/1998/012P9 RVA-Human-Ic/THA/T152/1998/012P9 RVA-D0g1cA/USA/911961/03P3 RVA-Human-Ic/THA/T152/1998/012P9	86.55 90.08 89.51 100.00 70.40 100.00 97.97 99.19 99.48	95.61 93.40 94.47 88.07 91.29 88.44 94.06 95.15 96.88	0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0 0E0			

Figure 13: Example of genotyping result from Virus pathogen resource (ViPR) web software

3.3.2.2 Phylogenetic analysis of rotavirus A viruses

Phylogenetic tree of each segment (11 segments) was generated by MEGA v10.0 software with neighbor-joining algorithm and bootstrap analysis of 1,000 replications (Tamura et al., 2013). The nucleotide sequences of references RVAs from dogs, cats, humans, pigs, horses, and bats were selected to include in phylogenetic analysis. RVA sequences from this study and reference sequences were aligned by ClustalW function and only the coding region of each segment of RVA were used to generate the phylogenetic tree of each segment of the virus by using MEGA software (Figure 14). The example of phylogenetic analysis from MEGAX is shown in Figure 15.



Figure 14: Sequence alignment in MEGAX for phylogenetic analysis



Figure 15: Example of phylogenetic analysis from MEGAX

3.3.2.3 Nucleotide and amino acid identities

The percentages of nucleotide and amino acid identities of each gene segment between RVAs in this study and closely related strains from phylogenetic analysis, as well as some other reference strains within the same genotype were calculated using pairwise distance function in MEGA v10.0 software. The nucleotide sequences of RVAs in this study along with closely related RVA strains and reference strains were aligned by ClustalW function and only the coding region of each segment of RVA were used to calculate the percentage of similarity of each segment of the virus by using MEGA software. The example of pairwise distance calculation from MEGAX is shown in Figure 16.

M M7: Pairwise Dista	M7: Pairwise Distances (C:\Users\USER\AppData\Local\Temp\PhyloAnalysis-0.meg) – 🗇 🗙																		
File Display Average Caption Help																			
👠 🗓 (A.B) 🦉 🞇 🔜 🧎 🐯 🔜 🖓																			
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19
1. RV25012																			
2. DC25170	0.001																		
3. EU708939.1 Canine rotavirus A79-10/G3P3 VP7 protein (VP7) gene complete cds	0.044	0.043																	
4. EU708928.1 Canine rotavirus K9 VP7 protein (VP7) gene complete cds	0.055	0.054	0.027																
5. EU708917.1 Canine rotavirus CU-1 VP7 protein (VP7) gene complete cds	0.044	0.043	0.012	0.029															
6. LC326506.1 Rotavirus A RVA/Dog-tc/JPN/RS15/1982/G3P3 VP7 gene for viral protein 7 complete cds	0.063	0.063	0.037	0.029	0.041														
7. HQ661139.1 Rotavirus A strain RVA/Dog-tc/ITA/RV198-95/1995/G3P3 VP7 gene complete cds	0.059	0.059	0.031	0.022	0.035	0.023													
8. HQ661128.1 Rotavirus A strain RVA/Dog-tc/ITA/RV52-96/1996/G3P3 VP7 gene complete cds	0.157	0.158	0.167	0.168	0.164	0.170	0.170												
9. MT364851.1 Rotavirus A strain RVA/Dog-wt/THA/CU132/2017/G3P3 VP7 gene complete cds	0.017	0.016	0.039	0.054	0.039	0.059	0.056	0.160											
10. MT364873. 1 Rotavirus A strain RVA/Dog-wt/THA/CU23379/2019/G3P3 VP7 gene complete cds	0.027	0.026	0.040	0.055	0.042	0.057	0.054	0.158	0.017										
11. EU708950. 1 Feline rotavirus Cat97/G3P3 VP7 protein (VP7) gene complete cds	0.059	0.058	0.038	0.030	0.042	0.036	0.028	0.164	0.058	0.057									
12. LC328207.1 Rotavirus A RVA/Cat-tc/JPN/FRV348/1994/G3P3 VP7 gene for viral protein 7 complete cds	0.157	0.158	0.163	0.163	0.158	0.166	0.168	0.010	0.154	0.154	0.160								
13. LC158116.1 Rotavirus A VP7 gene for VP7 complete cds strain: RVA/Bat-wt/ZMB/LUS12-14/2012/G3P3	0.160	0.161	0.168	0.169	0.165	0.169	0.171	0.017	0.159	0.157	0.163	0.022							
14. KC960624.1 Rotavirus A isolate RVA/Bat/MSLH14/G3P3 outer capsid protein VP7 (VP7) gene complete cds	0.144	0.144	0.139	0.137	0.134	0.142	0.145	0.126	0.139	0.145	0.134	0.123	0.125						
15. KF649188.1 Rotavirus A strain RVA/Bat/MYAS33/2013VP7 VP7 gene complete cds	0.144	0.145	0.145	0.142	0.137	0.151	0.146	0.120	0.145	0.147	0.139	0.120	0.124	0.103					
16. KX814942. 1 Rotavirus A isolate RVA/Bat-wt/CHN/LZHP2/2015/G3P3 VP7 gene complete cds	0.151	0.152	0.147	0.152	0.148	0.159	0.156	0.122	0.146	0.148	0.152	0.118	0.120	0.097	0.071				
17. EU708906.1 Human rotavirus HCR3A VP7 protein (VP7) gene complete cds	0.050	0.049	0.025	0.039	0.027	0.045	0.039	0.170	0.047	0.049	0.046	0.167	0.169	0.143	0.145	0.154			
18. EU708895.1 Human rotavirus Ro1845 VP7 protein (VP7) gene complete cds	0.057	0.057	0.029	0.018	0.033	0.018	0.012	0.163	0.054	0.054	0.026	0.159	0.166	0.142	0.143	0.153	0.039		
19. HQ661117. 1 Rotavirus A strain RVA/Human-tc/ITA/PA260-97/1997/G3P3 VP7 gene complete cds	0.161	0.162	0.167	0.166	0.164	0.168	0.168	0.008	0.160	0.158	0.160	0.012	0.015	0.127	0.122	0.122	0.170	0.161	
20 1 C 340021 1 Potavirus & PVA/Humanust/JPN/12638/2014/C3P3 VP7 gene for structural protein VP7 partia	l cde 0 014	0.013	0.034	0.049	0.034	0.055	0.052	0 164	0.000	0.018	0.053	0.158	0.163	0 137	0.145	0 150	0.040	0.050	0.16

Figure 16: Example of pairwise distance calculation from MEGAX

3.3.2.4 Genetic constellation of RVA

From genotyping of each gene segment of RVA, the combination of 11 genotypes from each gene segment were analyzed and assigned as genetic constellation. The genetic constellation of RVAs in this study were compared with closely related strains from phylogenetic analysis. The reference strains of RVAs from different species which include dog, cat, pig, horse, bat, and human were selected to compare with viruses in this study. The reference strains which had the same genotype in almost segments of the virus or had the same or almost the same genetic constellation with viruses in this study were selected to include in this comparison. The example of genetic constellation showed in Figure 17.

	Strain names*	Genotype constellation	7qV	VP4	NP6	14A	VP2	CH7	IdSN	NSP2	NSP3	NSP4	S dSN
+	RVA/Human-tc/USA/Wa/1974/G1P1A[8]		G1	P[8]	11	R1	C1	Mt	A1	N1	TI	E1	H1
1	RVA/Human-tc/USA/P/1974/G3P1A[8]	1	60.	P[8]	11	FI1	C1	M1	A1	N1	Tt	E1	111
1	RVA/Human-wt/USA/DC5115-Bethesda/1977/G4P[8]]	G4	P[8]	11	R1	C1	M1	A1	NT	T1	E1	HT
[RVA/Human-wt/BEL/B3458/2003/G9P[8]		G9	P[8]	11	FH1	61	M1	A1	N1	T1	E1	H1
A [RVA/Human-wt/BEL/B4633/2003/G12P[8]	Human Wa-like	G12	P[8]	11	H1	C1	MI	A1	N1	T1	Et	HI
[RVA/Human-tc/BRA/IAL28/1992/G5P[8]		G5	P[8]	11	R1	Ct	M1	A1	NI	T1	Et	H1
[RVA/Human-wt/CIV/6736/2004/G8P[8]		G8	P(8)	11	RI	61	MI	At	NI	TI	E1	HI
[RVA/Human-wt/NGA/6717ARN/2002/G10P[8]		G10	P(8)	11	R1	C1	MT	At	NI	TT	EI	H1
	RVA/Human-wt/BGD/Matlab36/2002/G11P[8]]	G11	P[8]	11	81	Ct	M1	A1	-111	T1	E1	H1
Т	RVA/Human-tc/USA/DS-1/1976/G2P1B(4)	1	G2	P[4]	12	R2	02	142	A2	142	TZ.	E2	H2
t	RVA/Human-wt/DEU/GER1H/2009/G8P[4]	1	GR	P(4)	- 12	82	C2	842	A2	142	12	82	HZ
t	RVA/Human-wt/BEL/B1711/2002/G6P[6]	1	Ge	PI61	12	82	C2	1.12	A2	112	12	62	HZ
вÌ	RVA/Human-wt/COD/DRC88/2003/G8P(8)	Human DS-1-like	GB	P181	12	182		1.82	A2	112	12	62	H2
1	RVA/Human-wt/COD/DRC86/2003/G8P[6]		GB	P[6]	10	FR2	02	3.82	AP	112	12	82	HZ
1	RVA/Human-tc/IND/69M/1980/G8P4[10]	1	G8	P[10]	12	192	02	142	A2	142	12	E2	HR
	RVA/Human-wt/ZAF/GR10924/1999/G9P[6]		G9	P[6]	12	R2	C2	M2	A2	NO.	12	62	H2
	RVA/Human-to/KEN/AK26/1982/G2P[4]	1	60	PIAT	12	10	6.9	140	A2	N1	172	F2	HZ
h	RVA/Human-wt/CAM/6809/2000/G8PI61	-	Ga	P\61	10	81	CI	MI	A1	NI	Tf	EI	111
h	BVA/Human-wt/CIV/6255ABN/2002/G10P[8]	1	G10	PIRI	100	87	CI	147	AT	NT	TT	FI	HI
_t	RVA/Human-tc/PHL/L26/1987/G12P/41	Wa-like x DS-1-like	G12	Pidl	12	142	02	MI/M2	A2	NI	12	EP	HI
-1	RVA/Human-wt/ZAF/3133WC/2009/G12P[4]	Reassortant	G12	PI41	11	81	C1	MI	AL	N1	T1	E1	HI
t	RVA/Human-wt/BGD/Matlab13/2003/G12P[6]	1000000000	G12	PI61	11	B1	CI	MI	A1	N1	12	E1	HI
t	RVA/Human-wt/BGD/N26/2002/G12P[6]	- 1	G12	P(6)	12	192	C2	140	A2	N1	12	E6	H2
1	RVA/Human-wt/BGD/RV161/2000/G12P[6]		G12	P[6]	12	82	C	142	A2	112	12	E1	H2
T	BVA/Human.tr/ IPN/ALL-1/1982/G3P3[9]		63	Pigt	19	83	03	MR	£3	N/2	T3	E3	HS
0	BVA/Human.tr/THA/T152/1008/G12P(9)	Human AU-1-like	G12	PIG	13	Ba	03	MR	A12	NR	13	ES	HS
=			1 01 12	. 1			00		Pi la			-	
εŀ	RVA/Human-wt/IND/N155/2003/G10P[11]	Wa-like Human x	GIO	P[11]	12	H2	102	142	AL	N1	11	122	H3
	HVA/Human-tc/IND/I321/XXXX/G10P[11]	Bovine Heassortant	G10	P[11]		нх	CX	MX	AL	1942		62	Нх
Т	RVA/Human-tc/ITA/PA169/1988/G6P[14]		G6	P[14]	12	PH2	C2	142	A3	NE	T6	82	H3
-[RVA/Human-wt/HUN/Hun5/1997/G6P[14]	Mumoo Review like	G6	P[14]	12	R2	CZ	MZ	A11	N2	T6	E2	H3
۲E	RVA/Human-wt/HUN/BP1062/2004/G8P[14]	- Human bovine-like	G8	P[14]	12	R2	C2	MA2	A11	N2	T6	82	H3
	RVA/Human-tc/GBR/A64/1987/G10P11[14]		G10	P[14]	12	R ²	62	MI	A3	112	T6	E2	H3
	RVA/Cow-to/FRA/RF/19R2/G6P[1]	1	G6	PIT	E.	HP.	00	149	A3	1822	T6	E2	H3
h	RVA/Sheep-to/ESP/OVR762/2002/G8P[14]	100000000000	G8	P[14]	12	82	0	140	A11	110	TE	69	H3
s١	RVA/Guanaco-wt/ABG/Chubut/1999/G8P[14]	Artiodactyl	GR	P[14]	12	85	0	142	ATT	NO	TE	E12	H3
-1	BVA/Antelope-wt/ZAF/BC-18/2008/G6P[14]	- Bovine-like	G6	P[14]	12	82	02	8.82	ATT	10	TG	82	H3
t	RVA/Goat-tc/BGD/GO34/1998/G6P[1]	1	G6	P(1)	12	192	C2	8.82	ATI	NE	T6	52	H3
7	PUAMassing (IRA/BateTep (A)/70.0/1002/0107/E1	1	1.04	DIEL		100	20	1.61	42	Cane.	TO		-
ł	EVA/accine/USA/RotaTeo.SC2.0/1002/C2027[5]	-	00	PIE1	10	IRO.	000	1.01	42	100	Te	60	13
ł	DVA Alaccined ICA /Dete Ten WI79, 9/1000/0007/01	-	C.	Diet	1	Inc.	-	A AND	12		TE	6.0	10
нł	PVANaccine/USA/HotaTes_PrP_0/1022/G3P7[5]	Vaccine	-04	P(a)	10	inter a	-		AG AG	1	TO	-	13
-	HVAVaccine/USA/Hota1eq-BrB-9/1996/G4P7[5]	000000	(JA	RO.	14		-	-	AJ	1	16	-	13
ŀ	HVA/Vaccine/USA/HotaTeq-WI79-4/1992/G6P1A[8]	-	GB	Plaj		HE?	CO1	Ma	AJ	and.	16	t d	H3
1	RVA/Vaccine/USA/Rotarix-RIX4414/1988/G1P1A[8] ^c		GT	P[8]	11	R1	CI	M1	AI	N1	11	E1	H1

Figure 17: Example of genetic constellation of RVAs

(Matthijnssens and Van Ranst, 2012)

3.3.2.5 Reassortment analysis of RVA

The vistaplot and bootscan analysis were done to detect the reassortment events of RVAs in this study. The vistaplot analysis was generated by wgVISTA web software (https://genome.lbl.gov/cgi-bin/WGVistaInput) to compare the RVAs in this study with closely related strains (Frazer et al., 2004, Mayor et al., 2000). In brief, the DNA sequences of coding region from all 11 segments of each RVA in this study and closely related strains were prepared as a concatenated sequence, the concatenated sequence of RVA in this study was then uploaded in the wgVISTA web software together with closely related strains to compared for similarity between the concatenated sequence. The example of vistaplot analysis result showed in Figure 18. For bootscan analysis, the SimPlot v.3.5.1 program were used in this study. In brief, the concatenated DNA sequence of RVAs in this study and closely related strains were input in the SimPlot v.3.5.1 program and analyzed by bootscan function with neighbor-joining model, 1000 bootstrap replicates, Kimura (2-parameter) distance model, 1000bp window size, and 70bp step size. The example of bootscan analysis result showed in Figure 19.

← → C ☆ ● pipeline.lbl.gov/	browser/tbrowser/?run=139	17-Xc3JODLR#&base=8766&run	=13917-Xc3JODLR&pos=RV2501	2:1-17418&indx=0&cutoff	=50 <i>🖻</i>	* 🗞 🐔	* 9 E
genome1 (RV25012:1-17,418)				View with: 🚮 <u>Vista B</u>	owser 🔀 Vista Point	🔩 Synteny 💽 🖸	Dot Plot ? Helr
Other V genome: User's data	v Feb 2022 v geno	ent: me2 [13917] V Submit					
RV25012 V RV25012:1-17,418	Go -10x -3x	-1.5x +1.5x +3x +10x	44 4 Dength: 17,418 bp				
9a 2	4	6 8			14		{
genome2							Ma
Letter and the second s		~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~					T

					Show alignments longer than 50 bp 🗸
genome2 [13917]					
			🔁 alignment in PDF	get CNSs: genome1 - genome2	🛛 🖣 🖉 Page 1 👘 of 1 🕨 🕅 😂 Displaying 1 - 1 of 1
Location on genome1 Feb 2022	Tools	Location on genome2 Feb 2022			
RV25012:1-17,418 (+) <u>Sequence</u> length: 17,418 bp	rankVISTA pairwise alignments: Alignment genoma 1_genome2 MFA: genoma 1_genome2 CNS: genoma 1_genome2 rVista: genoma 1_genome2 PDF: genoma 1_genome2	12638:1-17,322 (+) Sequence length: 17,322 bp Vista Point Vista Browser			

Figure 18: Example of vistaplot analysis from wgVISTA web software



Figure 19: Example of bootscan analysis from SimPlot



Chapter 4

Result

The results of this thesis are provided corresponding to three study phases

4.1 Sample collection from dogs and cats in animal hospitals in Bangkok and the vicinities

In this thesis, we collected rectal swab samples from dogs and cats from 8 animal hospitals in Bangkok (n=5) and Nonthaburi (n=3). In total 572 rectal swab samples were included in this study. Five animal hospitals in Bangkok located in Huai-Khwang district, Bang-Kho-Laem district, Taling-Chan district, Lak-Si district, and Yan-Nawa district. Three animal hospitals in Nonthaburi were located in Mueang Nonthaburi district (Table 5).

By province, out of 572 samples, 193 and 192 rectal swab samples were collected from dogs and cats from animal hospitals in Bangkok, respectively. While 97 and 90 rectal swab samples were collected from dogs and cats from animal hospitals in Nonthaburi, respectively (Table 5 and Figure 20).

By year, rectal swab samples of dogs (n=290), 108 samples were collected in 2020, and 182 samples were collected in 2021. For rectal swab samples of cats, 105 samples were collected in 2020, and 177 samples were collected in 2021. The description of rectal swab samples by month/year is shown in Table 6 and Figure 21.

By age of animals, we have categorized dogs and cats into 5 age groups according to life stage of the animals including 1) puppy and kitten stage (<6 months), 2) junior life stage (6-<12 months), 3) adult life stage (1-<6 years), 4) mature life stage (6-<10 years), and 5) senior life stage (\geq 10 years) (Vogt et al., 2010; Bartges et al., 2012). For puppy and kitten stage (first born to less than 6 months), 64 dog and 59 cat samples were included in this study. For junior life stage (6 months to less than 12 months), there were 22 dogs and 45 cats. For adult life stage (1 year to less than 6 years), there were 63 dogs and 83 cats. For mature life stage (6 years to less than 10 years), there were 35 dogs and 15 cats. For senior life stage (10 years or more), there were 49 dogs and 15 cats. It is noted that, there were some dogs (n=57) and cats (n=65) with uncertain specific age, mostly the adopted dogs or cats (Table 7 and Figure 22).

By sex of animals, the rectal swab samples were collected from 160 male and 101 female dogs, as well as 140 male and 130 female cats. There were 29 dogs, and 12 cats did not have the information of sex (Table 8 and Figure 23).

Species		(ii)	Province				Total
		Bar	ngkok	,		Nonthaburi	
	Huai-Khwang	Bang-Kho-Laem	Taling-Chan	Lak-Si	Yan-Nawa		
Canine	105	27	19	39	3	97	290
Feline	141	9	6 8	16	18	90	282
250							
200							
150							
100			_				
50							
0							
Ŭ	Ba	angkok		Nontha	aburi		
		Canine	Feline				

Table 5: Description of rectal swab samples collected by district and province

Figure 20: Bar charts of rectal swab samples collected by province

Species					2020	2020						20	2021			
	Jan	Feb	Mar	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	
Canine	16	1	4	12	14	6	20	7	28	12	0	45	39	34	52	290
Feline	0	8	8	5	14	17	22	12	19	18	4	45	36	33	41	282



Figure 21: Bar charts of rectal swab samples collected by month

Table 6: Description of rectal swab samples collected by month

Species	Age										
	Puppy/Kitten	Junior	Adult	Mature	Senior	NA					
	0 - < 6 mths	6 - < 12 mths	1 - < 6 yrs	6 - < 10 yrs	≥ 10 yrs						
Canine	64	22	63	35	49	57	290				
Feline	59	45	83	15	15	65	282				

Table 7: Description of rectal swab samples collected by age



Figure 22: Bar charts of rectal swab samples collected by age

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Species			Total	
	Male	Female	NA	
Canine	160	101	29	290
Feline	140	130	12	282



Table 8: Description of rectal swab samples collected by sex

4.2 Identification of RVA in dogs and cats by specific RT-PCR assay

In this thesis, we tested 572 rectal swab samples from dogs and cats. Our result showed that 11 out of 572 rectal swab samples (1.92%) collected from dogs and cats were positive for RVA. In detail, by species of animals, 8 out of 290 (2.75%) rectal swab samples from dogs were positive of canine rotavirus A (CRVA), and 3 out of 282 (1.06%) rectal swab samples from cats were found positive of feline rotavirus A (FRVA).

By year, from 8 dogs positive of CRVA, 5 dogs were sampled in year 2020 (2 in January and 3 in July 2020), while 3 dogs positive of CRVA were sampled in 2021 (June 2021). For 3 cats positive of FRVA, all cats were sampled in 2020 (1 in February, 1 in July, and 1 in October). By age of animals, 5 dogs were less than 6 months, and 3 dogs were more than 10 years old, while 2 cats were 1 and 3 years of age and 1 cat was less than 6 months. For sex of animals, 6 dogs were male and 2 were female, while all 3 cats were male.

It is noted that most positive samples were collected from animal hospitals in Bangkok, except only 1 dog sample was collected from animal hospital in Nonthaburi province. The detail of dogs and cats that positive for RVA are shown in Table 9.

ID	Collected date	Species	Age	Sex	Province
RV24998	1/2020	Dog	2 mths	Male	Bangkok
RV25012	1/2020	Dog	3 mths	Male	Bangkok
RV25045	2/2020	Cat	3 mths	Male	Bangkok
RV25132	7/2020	Cat	3 yrs	Male	Bangkok
DC25167	7/2020	Dog	3 mths	Female	Bangkok
DC25170	7/2020	Dog	3 mths	Male	Bangkok
DC25171	7/2020	Dog	3 mths	Male	Bangkok
RV25420	10/2020	Cat	1 yr	Male	Bangkok
CV27279	6/2021	Dog	14 yrs	Male	Nonthaburi
CV27286	6/2021	Dog	15 yrs	Male	Bangkok
CV27287	6/2021	Dog	10 yrs	Female	Bangkok

4.3 Genetic characterization and genetic diversity of RVA in dogs and cats

4.3.1 Whole genome sequencing of RVA

In this thesis, from 11 positive RVA samples, 3 RNA samples including RV25012, RV25045, and DC25170 were subjected to whole genome sequencing (all 11 genes of RVA). Two RNA samples (RV25012 and DC25170) were collected from dogs in January 2020 and July 2020, while 1 RNA sample (RV25045) was collected from cat in February 2020. All 3 RNA samples were collected from male dogs and cat with 3 months of age, in Bangkok. Detail of these 3 RNA samples are shown in Table 10.

Newly designed primer sets were used for amplification of these 3 RNA samples for whole genome sequencing. The primers were designed using Primer 3 plus program. The primer sequences, size of amplified products, and PCR condition of each primer are present in Table 11 and 12.

From 3 RNA samples including RV25012 and DC25170 from dogs, and RV25045 from cat, we had accomplished the whole genome sequences of almost all samples, except VP1 gene of DC25170. The product size of each segment were 3300bp for VP1, 2700bp for VP2, 2581bp for VP3, 2300bp for VP4, 1350bp for VP6, 1036bp for VP7, 1500bp for NSP1, 1021bp for NSP2, 1100bp for NSP3, 750bp for NSP4, and 780bp for NSP5.

หาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

	•		-		-	
ID	Collected date	Species	Age	Sex	Province	
RV25012	1/2020	Dog	3 mths	Male	Bangkok	
RV25045	2/2020	Cat	3 mths	Male	Bangkok	
DC25170	7/2020	Dog	3 mths	Male	Bangkok	

Table 10: Description of viruses subjected to whole genome sequencing

	`		רו וו וו אומים	ły			
Primer name	Type	Sequence	Gene	Position (nt)	Product size(bp)	Species	Reference
3VA_VP1F_out	ш	GGCTATTWAAGCTGTACAATGG	507	7	2		Charoenkul et al. 2020
WA_VP1R_914	٣	CCAGCTTTCTTCATATTATC	147	1-914	914	Dog, cat	This study
3VA_VP1F_757	ш	CCTATGTCAATTTTAGTCGC		1007	011	Ċ	·
VA_VP1R_1927	с	TTATCATCKCCATCAACTCG	IΥΛ	1761-101	0711	NOS	inis study
VA_VP1F_1774	ш	ATACAGTATGGAGCAGTTGC			007	C	
VA_VP1R_2554	£	CTITIGCTTTYTCAGTTAGTGC	TLA	+CCZ-+111	007	2001	ITTIS SLUDY
VA_VP1F_2036	ш	GGTTTCRACGGTTGGAATAG	101	2000 2000	CCO	C	
VA_VP1R_2836	٣	GAAATTGCTGATTTAGATCC	Tan	0202-0202	200	Dog	I NIS STUDY
VA_VP1F_2736	ш	AAATTTATGCCRACTTTGCC	1.02				This study
WA_VP1R_out	£	GGTCACATCYAAGCACTC	TLA	000000017	+0C	DUS, LAL	Charoenkul et al. 2020
WA_VP1F_out	ш	GGCTATTWAAGCTGTACAATGG	VD1	1 1 3 2 3	1222		Charoenkul et al. 2020
/A_VP1R_1333	£	TTCCATTAGCCATATCATCC	TLAN	CCCT-T	CECI	Sou	This study
/A_VP1F_1228	ш	ATGTCATCAGCATCAAATGG		7001 0001	002	Č	This study
/A_VP1R_1927	£	TTATCATCKCCATCAACTCG	TLA	1761-0771	660	Sou	IIIIS SLUDY
VA_VP1F_757	ш	CCTATGTCAATTTTAGTCGC	101	767 1222	57 <i>6</i>	+ ~	This study.
/A_VP1R_1333	£	TTCCATTAGCCATATCATCC	ТЦЛ		010	رما	IIIIS SLUDY
/A_VP1F_1228	ш	ATGTCAGCATCAAATGG		2000 8001	002	-~ J	This structure
/A_VP1R_2026	£	ACTWTAGCATTCATTCGTGC	ТЦЛ	0707-0771	061	رما	IIIIS SLUDY
VA_VP1F_1774	ш	ATACAGTATGGAGCAGTTGC	101	770 7026	1062	+~	This study
/A_VP1R_2836	٣	GAAATTGCTGATTTAGATCC	ТЦЛ	0007-4111	1002	כמו	
VA_VP2F_out	ш	GGCTATTAAAGGYTCAATG		1 0/15	QAF		Charoenkul et al. 2020
VA VP2R 945	£	TTTGGCCTAATGTATCTAGC	717	C++~-1	044	SOU	This study

Primer name	Type	Sequence	Gene	Position (nt)	Product size(bp)	Species	Reference
RVA_VP2F_674	ш	CAGGATGAGGAAACTGAAGG		2121 122	670		
RVA_VP2R_1616	щ	TAATCYACTGGCATAGTTGG	777	0101-+/0	742	DOG	I TIS SLUDY
RVA_VP2F_1266	ш	GTGGCTRTTAACGGTTATACC	0077	1 DKK 21ED	003	Č	This study.
RVA_VP2R_2159	Щ	GCTATRATCACTCCCTGAGC	777	AC17-0071	C 60	DOS	ITIIS SLUDY
RVA_VP2F_2107	ш	GAACATGGARCAAATTGAACG			E 03	Č	This study
RVA_VP2R_out	щ	GGTCATATCTCCACAGTG	777	0012-1012	CYC	DOS	Charoenkul et al. 2020
RVA_VP3F_out	ш	GGCTWTTAAAGCAGTATGAG		1001	100	+	Charoenkul et al. 2020
RVA_VP3R_987	Щ	GGAGTATCAAACGGATCCCA	CIA	106-1	106	DUS, Cal	This study
RVA_VP3F_908	ш	TCAGCACCTTCRTAYTGGAT	2011	000 1110	VE.	Ċ	
RVA_VP3R_1579	٣	ATCTGTCGGTAGAAAGTCC	C H V	6/CI-006	TYO/MAN	DOG	I TIS SLUDY
RVA_VP3F_1568	ш	GACTGGACTTTTTACCAAC	102	1660 2647	020		This study.
RVA_VP3R_2547	Я	ATATCAAACACHGTATCTCC	C LA	1+CZ-00CT	11111	DUS, Cal	
RVA_VP3F_884	ш	TATATGGTTGGTTCAGCTCC	VD2	004 1670	40E	+ C	This study.
RVA_VP3R_1579	щ	ATCTGTCGGTAGAAAGTCC	VFJ	6101-400	60	Cal	
RVA_VP3F_1877	ш	TCAGGTCATGTGTAYAATGC	102	1077 JE01	10L		This study
RVA_VP3R_out	щ	GGTCAMATCGTGACTAG	О Г Г	1007-1101	104	DOB, Cal	Charoenkul et al. 2020
RVA_VP4F_863	ш	GGTGGATTAGGTTATAAATGGTCAG	VDV	862 1002	1120		This study
RVA_VP4R_1993	Щ	CAATGTCTGGTAATGTRTTGGAG	+ - -	C441-C00	0611	DUS, Cal	
RVA_VP4F_1504	ш	GCARTTAGGTGAACTTAGAG	VDV	1601 2361	270		This study
RVA_VP4R_2351	щ	TTGCTTACAATCTACATTGC	+ - -	1007-4001	047	DUS, Cal	

	Reference	Charoenkul et al. 2020	This study	,	International structures of the structure of the structur		I MIS SLUDY	This study		This study	Charoenkul et al. 2020	Charoenkul et al. 2020	This study	This states	I MIS SLUDY		I MIS SLUDY					Charoenkul et al. 2020	This study
d in PCR reaction	Extension time (min.)	- 		200											UJILIJ T				T	1 20 1		t cim	T
lesigned primer use	Annealing temp. (°C)	7607) C+	J.s.) C+	J.00 V	40 C	A E.C	С Ор	0.00		Jeo J	C. C) Ct	760) C+	760) Ct	760) Ct	م د _ق ر	U n t
n pair of newly c	Product size (bp)	7 00	ALt	1170	0/TT	002	1001	000	000	Eco	200 4	1333	CCC1	000	660	E76	0/0	002	061	1062	1002	Ode	0
e for each	Gene	1017	١٩٧		١٩٧	101		101		FOR Y		1017	T-JA	101		101	177	101	ΓLΛ	101	V L T	007	7 1 7
nperature and extension time	Sequence	GGCTATTWAAGCTGTACAATGG	CCAGCTITCTTCATATTATC	CCTATGTCAATTITTAGTCGC	TTATCATCKCCATCAACTCG	ATACAGTATGGAGCAGTTGC	CTITGCTTTYTCAGTTAGTGC	GGTTTCRACGGTTGGAATAG	GAAATTGCTGATTTAGATCC	AAATTTATGCCRACTTTGCC	GGTCACATCYAAGCACTC	GGCTATTWAAGCTGTACAATGG	TTCCATTAGCCATATCATCC	ATGTCATCAGCATCAAATGG	TTATCATCKCCATCAACTCG	CCTATGTCAATTTTAGTCGC	TTCCATTAGCCATATCATCC	ATGTCATCAGCATCAAATGG	ACTWTAGCATTCATTCGTGC	ATACAGTATGGAGCAGTTGC	GAAATTGCTGATTTAGATCC	GGCTATTAAAGGYTCAATG	TTTGGCCTAATGTATCTAGC
aling tem	Type	ш	£	ш	£	ш	£	ш	Ж	ш	۲	ш	Ж	ш	£	ш	£	ш	Ж	ш	R	ш	Ч
Table 12: Anne	Primer name	RVA_VP1F_out	RVA_VP1R_914	RVA_VP1F_757	RVA_VP1R_1927	RVA_VP1F_1774	RVA_VP1R_2554	RVA_VP1F_2036	RVA_VP1R_2836	RVA_VP1F_2736	RVA_VP1R_out	RVA_VP1F_out	RVA_VP1R_1333	RVA_VP1F_1228	RVA_VP1R_1927	RVA_VP1F_757	RVA_VP1R_1333	RVA_VP1F_1228	RVA_VP1R_2026	RVA_VP1F_1774	RVA_VP1R_2836	RVA_VP2F_out	RVA_VP2R_945

Reference	Total Total	I TIIS SLUDY	- to the second s	ITTIS SLUDY	This study	Charoenkul et al. 2020	Charoenkul et al. 2020	This study	This at the second	I TIS SLUDY	This at the second	ITTIS SLUUY	This church	ITTIS SLUCY	This study	Charoenkul et al. 2020	Total Andrew Ano	IIIIs study	This structs	IIIIS SLUUY
Extension time (min.)			5		5		5		5		5		22.							
Annealing temp. (°C)		۲ 40 ر		-C 40		ر +0	1 EoC	C+	1.00F	40 (۲ ۲	1 EoC	40 C		20 C	JE°C	ر ۲
Product size (bp)	C	242	000	CKO	E03	CAC	100	106	127	140	070	212	¢DE	040	A A A	104	0015	0011	207	0410
Gene		777		777		777	ADD COLOR	C17	curi	C HA	CUIV	CTV	VD2	CHA		CT>		+ - -	NOV/	+ - -
Sequence	CAGGATGAGGAAACTGAAGG	TAATCYACTGGCATAGTTGG	GTGGCTRTTAACGGTTATACC	GCTATRATCACTCCCTGAGC	GAACATGGARCAAATTGAACG	GGTCATATCTCCACAGTG	GGCTWTTAAAGCAGTATGAG	GGAGTATCAAACGGATCCCA	TCAGCACCTTCRTAYTGGAT	ATCTGTCGGTAGAAAGTCC	GACTGGACTTTTTACCAAC	ATATCAAACACHGTATCTCC	TATATGGTTGGTTCAGCTCC	ATCTGTCGGTAGAAAGTCC	TCAGGTCATGTGTAYAATGC	GGTCAMATCGTGACTAG	GGTGGATTAGGTTATAAATGGTCAG	CAATGTCTGGTAATGTRTTGGAG	GCARTTAGGTGAACTTAGAG	TTGCTTACAATCTACATTGC
Type	ш	£	ш	с	ш	£	ш	£	ш	٣	ш	с	ш	٣	ш	۲	ш	с	ш	۲
Primer name	RVA_VP2F_674	RVA_VP2R_1616	RVA_VP2F_1266	RVA_VP2R_2159	RVA_VP2F_2107	RVA_VP2R_out	RVA_VP3F_out	RVA_VP3R_987	RVA_VP3F_908	RVA_VP3R_1579	RVA_VP3F_1568	RVA_VP3R_2547	RVA_VP3F_884	RVA_VP3R_1579	RVA_VP3F_1877	RVA_VP3R_out	RVA_VP4F_863	RVA_VP4R_1993	RVA_VP4F_1504	RVA_VP4R_2351

4.3.2 Genetic diversity of RVA by genotyping of rotavirus A viruses

Genotyping of rotavirus A viruses in this study by Virus pathogen resource (ViPR) web software showed that all 3 viruses (RV25012, RV25045, DC25170) were classified into genotype G3P[3] according to the analysis of VP7 and VP4 gene sequences. Based on the classification of all 11 genes (VP7-VP4-VP6-VP1-VP2-VP3-NSP1-NSP2-NSP3-NSP4-NSP5), our results showed that 2 viruses from dogs (RV25012, DC25170) were classified into genotype G3-P[3]-I3-R3-C3-M3-A9-N2-T3-E3-H6 which are the same as previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020). On the other hand, the virus from cat (RV25045) was classified into genotype G3-P[3]-I8-R3-C3-M3-A9-N3-T3-E3-H6 which never been reported in Thailand before. Moreover, according to the report from all over the world, the genotype I8 of VP6 gene has never been reported in cats before

(Table 13 shows genotypes of RVA based on whole genome sequence analysis).



~ 1	
۰Ņ	

Gene

virus otrain species rear country	VP3 NSP1			
		NSP2 NSP2	5 NSP4	NSP5
nne				
A/Dog/THA/RV25012/2020/G3P[3] RV25012 Dog 2020 THA G3 P[3] I3 R3 C3	M3 A9	N2 T3	E3	9H
A/Dog/THA/DC25170/2020/G3P[3] DC25170 Dog 2020 THA G3 P[3] I3 NA C3	M3 A9	N2 T3	E3	9Н
line				
A (C++ /TUA /DI/DEA/16 /2020 /C20[2] DI/DEA/15 C+ 2020 TUA C2 D[2] 18 D2 C2	M3 A9	N3 T3	E3	9H

4.3.3 Genetic diversity of RVA by phylogenetic analysis

Phylogenetic analysis of RVA was performed by the comparison of each gene segments of the RVAs from this study with those of reference RVAs in the GenBank databases. The reference RVAs were selected including the viruses from different species, different geographic regions, and different time of isolation.

For phylogenetic analysis of VP7 gene, 2 viruses from dogs in this study (RV25012 and DC25170) were closely related to RVA viruses from dogs in Thailand previously reported in 2017 and 2019 (Charoenkul et al., 2020). The viruses were clustered together with almost other reference RVA strain of dogs, which are the genotype G3, subcluster b2. It is interesting to noted that there are some human's RVA belonged to subcluster b2, for example strain 12638 reported in Japan which was closely related to dog's RVA viruses in this study (Okitsu et al., 2018). Another example, human's RVA strain HCR3A found in USA and strain Ro1845 found in Israel were belong to subcluster b2 (Tsugawa and Hoshino, 2008). On the other hands, the virus from cat in this study (RV25045) clustered with the viruses of subcluster b1 which clustering together with many bat and human RVA strains. Our analysis showed that cat RVA strain FRV348 (Nakagomi et al., 2018) and dog RVA strain RV52-96 (Matthijnssens et al., 2011b) were also clustered in this subcluster b1. It is interesting to noted that RV25045 was the most closely related to human's virus strain CMH222 and CMH079 found in Chiangmai province, Thailand in 2001 (Khamrin et al., 2006) and 2005 (Khamrin et al., 2009), respectively (Figure 24 shows the phylogenetic tree of VP7 gene).

For phylogenetic of VP4 gene, similar to VP7 gene, 2 viruses from dogs in this study (RV25012 and DC25170) were closely related to dog's RVA viruses from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020), and clustered together with other reference RVA strains from dogs, as well as bat's RVA strain LUS12-14 found in Zambia (Sasaki et al., 2016). While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) was closely related to human's virus strain CMH222 reported in Chiangmai province, Thailand in 2001 (Khamrin et al., 2006) and bat's RVA strain MSLH14 and LZHP2 in China (He et al., 2013) (He et al., 2017) (Figure 25 shows the phylogenetic tree of VP4 gene).

For phylogenetic analysis of VP6 gene, 2 viruses from dogs in this study (RV25012 and DC25170) were closely related to human's RVA strain 12638 reported in Japan (Okitsu et al., 2018) and dog's RVA from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020). In this cluster, we also noted that one cat's RVA strain FRV348 found in Japan (Nakagomi et al., 2018), unusual human's RVA strain PA260-97 (Matthijnssens et al., 2011b), strain HCR3A and strain Ro1845 (Tsugawa and Hoshino, 2008) were grouped into this cluster. While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) was closely related to human's RVA strain MS2015-1-0001 found in Tak province, Thailand (Komoto et al., 2021) as well as bat's RVA strain MYAS33 from China (Xia et al., 2014). We also found that another 2 bat's RVA strain BSTM70 and MSLH14 (He et al., 2013) along with human's virus strain CMH222 (Khamrin et al., 2006) were clustered within the same cluster (I8 cluster) (Figure 26 shows the phylogenetic tree of VP6 gene).

For phylogenetic analysis of VP1 gene, virus from dog in this study (RV25012) was closely related to dog's RVA from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020) and unusual human's RVA strain 12638 (Okitsu et al., 2018). While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) was closely related to bat's RVA strain MYAS33 in China (Xia et al., 2014) and human's RVA strain MS2015-1-0001 (Komoto et al., 2021), as well as RVA found in simian, USA (Brown et al., 2011) (Figure 27 shows the phylogenetic tree of VP1 gene).

For phylogenetic analysis of VP2 gene, 2 viruses from dogs in this study (RV25012 and DC25170) were closely related to dog's RVA from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020), and human's RVA strain 12638 (Okitsu et al., 2018) and strain PA260-97 (Matthijnssens et al., 2011b), as well as cat's virus strain FRV348 (Nakagomi et al., 2018). While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) was closely related to RVA found in simian, USA (Brown et al., 2011) (Figure 28 shows the phylogenetic tree of VP2 gene).

For phylogenetic analysis of VP3 gene, 2 viruses from dogs in this study (RV25012 and DC25170) were closely related to dog's RVA from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020) and bat's RVA strain LUS12-14 reported in Zambia (Sasaki et al., 2016). While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) was closely related

to human's RVA strain MS2015-1-0001 (Komoto et al., 2021), and bat's RVA found in China, strain MYAS33 (Xia et al., 2014), and strain MSLH14 (He et al., 2013) (Figure 29 shows the phylogenetic tree of VP3 gene).

For phylogenetic analysis of NSP1 gene, 2 viruses from dogs in this study (RV25012 and DC25170) were closely related to dog's RVA from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020) and human's RVA strain 12638 reported in Japan (Okitsu et al., 2018), as well as bat's RVA strain LUS12-14 reported in Zambia (Sasaki et al., 2016). While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) was closely related to bat's RVA strain MYAS33 (Xia et al., 2014) and strain MSLH14 (He et al., 2013) from China. This cat's virus also clustered with human's RVA strain MS2015-1-0001 (Komoto et al., 2021) and simian's RVA found in USA (Brown et al., 2011) (Figure 30 shows the phylogenetic tree of NSP1 gene).

For phylogenetic analysis of NSP2 gene, 2 viruses from dogs in this study (RV25012 and DC25170) were closely related to dog's RVA from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020) and unusual human's RVA, strain 12638 from Japan (Okitsu et al., 2018) and strain PA260-97 from Italy (Matthijnssens et al., 2011b), as well as bat's RVA strain LUS12-14 from Zambia (Sasaki et al., 2016). While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) was closely related to human's RVA strain MS2015-1-0001 found in Thailand (Komoto et al., 2021) (Figure 31 shows the phylogenetic tree of NSP2 gene).

For phylogenetic analysis of NSP3 gene, 2 viruses from dogs in this study (RV25012 and DC25170) were closely related to cat's reference RVA strain FRV348 (Nakagomi et al., 2018) and dog's RVA from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020) and bat's RVA strain LUS12-14 from Zambia (Sasaki et al., 2016), as well as human's RVA strain 12638 (Okitsu et al., 2018). While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) was closely related to bat's RVA strain MYAS333 (Xia et al., 2014) and strain LZHP2 (He et al., 2017) as well as simian's RVA found in USA (Brown et al., 2011) (Figure 32 shows the phylogenetic tree of NSP3 gene).

For phylogenetic analysis of NSP4 gene, 2 viruses from dogs in this study (RV25012 and DC25170) were closely related to dog's RVA from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020) and cat's reference RVA strain FRV348 (Nakagomi et al., 2018), as well as unusual human's RVA strain PA260-97 (Matthijnssens et al., 2011b) and strain 12638 (Okitsu et al., 2018). While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) was closely related to human's RVA strain MS2015-1-0001 (Komoto et al., 2021) and bat's RVA strain MSLH14 (He et al., 2013) (Figure 33 shows the phylogenetic tree of NSP4 gene).

For phylogenetic analysis of NSP5 gene, 2 viruses from dogs in this study (RV25012 and DC25170) were closely related to dog's RVA from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020) and human's RVA strain 12638 (Okitsu et al., 2018). While virus from cat in this study was closely related to bat's RVA strain MSLH14 (He et al., 2013) and human's RVA strain MS2015-1-0001 (Komoto et al., 2021) as well as bat's RVA strain MYAS33 (Xia et al., 2014) and strain LZHP2 (He et al., 2017) (Figure 34 shows the phylogenetic tree of NSP5 gene).

In conclusion, our phylogenetic analysis showed that genetic composition of 2 RVA from dogs in this study (RV25012 and DC25170) had closest genetic relationship with RVA in dogs from the previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020) at 9 gene segment (VP1, VP2, VP3, VP4, VP7, NSP1, NSP2, NSP4, NSP5), excepting in VP6 gene that had closest genetic relationship with human's RVA strain 12638 found in Japan (Okitsu et al., 2018) and NSP3 gene segment that had closest genetic relationship with cat's reference RVA strain FRV348 (Nakagomi et al., 2018). While genetic composition (VP7 and VP4 genes) of RVA from cat in this study (RV25045) had closest genetic relationship with human's RVA strain CMH222 found in Chiangmai province, Thailand, in 2001 (Khamrin et al., 2006) and VP7 and VP6 genes had closest genetic relationship with human's RVA strain CMH079 found in Chiangmai province, Thailand, in 2005 (Khamrin et al., 2009). Moreover VP3, NSP2, and NSP4 gene of cat's RVA in this study had closest genetic relationship with human's RVA strain MS2015-1-0001 found in Tak province, Thailand (Komoto et al., 2021). Interestingly, some gene of cat's RVA in this study also had close genetic relationship with bat's RVA from China, including strain MYAS33 (VP1, NSP1, and NSP3) (Xia et al., 2014), strain MSLH14 (VP6, VP3, and NSP4) (He et al., 2013), strain LZHP2 (VP4, NSP3, and NSP4 genes) (He et al., 2017) as well as strain BSTM70 (VP6) (He et al., 2013). Moreover, VP2 gene (and VP1, NSP1, and NSP3 genes) of cat's RVA in this study was closely related to simian's RVA from USA (Brown et al., 2011).

The summarize of RVA strains closest related to viruses in this study in each segment showed in Table 14 for dog and Table 15 for cat.



Chulalongkorn University



Figure 24: Phylogenetic tree of VP7 gene



Figure 25: Phylogenetic tree of VP4 gene



Figure 26: Phylogenetic tree of VP6 gene



Figure 27: Phylogenetic tree of VP1 gene



0.020

Figure 28: Phylogenetic tree of VP2 gene



Figure 29: Phylogenetic tree of VP3 gene



Figure 30: Phylogenetic tree of NSP1 gene



Figure 31: Phylogenetic tree of NSP2 gene



Figure 32: Phylogenetic tree of NSP3 gene


Figure 33: Phylogenetic tree of NSP4 gene



Figure 34: Phylogenetic tree of NSP5 gene

Gene	Strain	Species	Year	Country
VP7	RVA/Dog/THA/CU132/2017/G3P[3]	Dog	2017	THA
VP4	RVA/Dog/THA/CU132/2017/G3P[3]	Dog	2017	THA
VP6	RVA/Human-wt/JPN/12638/2014/G3P[3]	Human	2014	JPN
VP1	RVA/Dog/THA/CU132/2017/G3P[3]	Dog	2017	THA
VP2	RVA/Dog/THA/CU132/2017/G3P[3]	Dog	2017	THA
VP3	RVA/Dog/THA/CU132/2017/G3P[3]	Dog	2017	THA
NSP1	RVA/Dog/THA/CU132/2017/G3P[3]	Dog	2017	THA
NSP2	RVA/Dog/THA/CU132/2017/G3P[3]	Dog	2017	THA
NSP3	RVA/Cat/JPN/FRV348/1994/G3P[3]	Cat	1994	JPN
NSP4	RVA/Dog/THA/CU132/2017/G3P[3]	Dog	2017	THA
NSP5	RVA/Dog/THA/CU132/2017/G3P[3]	Dog	2017	THA

 Table 14: Summarize of RVA strains closest related to dog's virus in this study

 (RV25012, DC25170) by BLASTn analysis

Table	15: Summarize of RVA strains closest related to cat's virus in this study
(RV250	045) by BLASTn analysis

	(De)	1-11		
Gene	Strain	Species	Year	Country
VP7	RVA/Human-wt/THA/CMH222/2001/G3P[3]	Human	2001	THA
	RVA/Human-wt/THA/CMH079/2005/G3P[10]	Human	2005	THA
VP4	RVA/Human-wt/THA/CMH222/2001/G3P[3]	Human	2001	THA
VP6	RVA/Human-wt/THA/CMH079/2005/G3P[10]	Human	2005	THA
VP1	RVA/Bat-wt/CHN/MYAS33/2012/G3P[3]	Bat	2013	CHN
VP2	RVA/Rhesus-tc/USA/TUCH/2002/G3P24	Simian	2002	USA
VP3	RVA/Human-wt/THA/MS2015-1-0001/G3P10	Human	2015	THA
NSP1	RVA/Bat-wt/CHN/MYAS33/2012/G3P[3]	Bat	2013	CHN
NSP2	RVA/Human-wt/THA/MS2015-1-0001/G3P10	Human	2015	THA
NSP3	RVA/Bat-wt/CHN/MYAS33/2012/G3P[3]	Bat	2013	CHN
NSP4	RVA/Human-wt/THA/MS2015-1-0001/G3P10	Human	2015	THA
NSP5	RVA/Bat-wt/CHN/MSLH14/2012/G3P[3]	Bat	2012	CHN

4.3.4 Genetic diversity of RVA by nucleotide and amino acid identities

Nucleotide and amino acid identities of RVA was performed by the comparison of each gene segments of the RVA in this study with those of closely related strains, as well as some other reference RVA strains with similar genotype from the GenBank databases. For dog's RVA, RV25012 was selected as the representative of this study to compare with other strains. For cat, RV25045 was the representative of cat's RVA in this study. The percentage of nucleotide (nt) and amino acid (aa) identities between RVA in this study and those reference strains are showed in Table 16 and Table 17 for dog, and Table 18 and Table 19 for cat.

For nucleotide and amino acid identities of VP7 gene, dog's RVA in this study (RV25012) had closest nucleotide identity with dog's RVA strain CU132 from previous reported in Thailand, 2017 (Charoenkul et al., 2020) and human's RVA strain 12638 found in Japan, 2014 (Okitsu et al., 2018), which were 98.26%, 98.56% (nt identities), respectively, and 99.38% and 99.38% (aa identities). Almost other dog's reference RVA strains also had close identity with dog's virus in this study, which approximately around 93-95% (nt), and 98% (aa). It is noted that there were other 2 unusual human's RVA that had close identity with dog's RVA in this study, which were strain HCR3A found in USA and strain Ro1845 found in Israel (Tsugawa and Hoshino, 2008), which were 94.97%, 94.26% (nt) and 99.07%, 98.75% (aa), respectively. On the other hands, the virus from cat in this study (RV25045) had closest identity with human's RVA strain CMH079 found in Chiangmai province, Thailand, 2005 (Khamrin et al., 2009), with 97.23% (nt) and 99.07% (aa).

For nucleotide and amino acid identities of VP4 gene, dog's RVA in this study (RV25012) had closest identity with dog's RVA strain CU132 from previous reported in Thailand, 2017 (Charoenkul et al., 2020), which was 98.37% (nt) and 99.09% (aa). It is noted that, there were other 2 RVA strains that had close identity with dog's RVA in this study, which were bat's RVA strain LUS12-14 found in Zambia (Sasaki et al., 2016) and cat's RVA strain FRV348 found in Japan (Nakagomi et al., 2018), with 97.51%, 97.16% (nt) and 98.43%, 97.76% (aa), respectively. While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) had closest identity with human's virus strain CMH222 reported in

Chiangmai province, Thailand in 2001 (Khamrin et al., 2006) and bat's RVA strain MSLH14 in China (He et al., 2013), with 87.66%, 87.61% (nt) and 95.79%, 97.60% (aa), respectively.

For nucleotide and amino acid identities of VP6 gene, dog's RVA in this study (RV25012) had closest identity with dog's RVA strain CU23379 from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020) and human's RVA strain 12638 reported in Japan (Okitsu et al., 2018), with 99.05% and 99.05% (nt), and 99.48% and 99.48% (aa). It is noted that there were some others RVA strain that had close identity with dog's RVA in this study, which were one cat's RVA strain FRV348 found in Japan (Nakagomi et al., 2018), two dog's RVA strain RV198-95 and strain RV52-96, as well as unusual human's RVA strain PA260-97 (Matthijnssens et al., 2011b), with approximately around 96% (nt), and 98-99% (aa). While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) had closest identity with bat's RVA strain MYAS33 from China (Xia et al., 2014), with 95.84% (nt) and 100% (aa). It is noted that there were other 2 human's RVA reported in Thailand that had close identity with cat's RVA in this study, which were strain CMH079, with 94.89% (nt) and 98.95% (aa), and strain MS2015-1-0001, with 93.47% (nt) and 100% (aa).

For nucleotide and amino acid identities of VP1 gene, dog's RVA in this study (RV25012) had closest identity with dog's RVA strain CU132 from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020), with 98.72% (nt) and 99.45% (aa). It also had close identity with unusual human's RVA strain 12638 (Okitsu et al., 2018), with 98.05% (nt) and 99.63% (aa). While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) had closest identity with simian's RVA reported in USA (Brown et al., 2011), with 93.17% (nt) and 97.84% (aa). It also had close identity with bat's RVA strain MYAS33 in China (Xia et al., 2014), with 93.02% (nt) and 98.10% (aa), as well as human's RVA strain MS2015-1-0001 (Komoto et al., 2021), with 92.10% (nt) and 98.13% (aa).

For nucleotide and amino acid identities of VP2 gene, dog's RVA in this study (RV25012) had closest identity with dog's RVA strain CU132 and CU23379 from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020), with 98.75%, 98.28% (nt) and 99.65%, 99.88% (aa), respectively. It is noted that it also had close identity with human's RVA strain 12638 (Okitsu et al., 2018) with 97.07% (nt) and 99.76% (aa), and

strain PA260-97 (Matthijnssens et al., 2011b) with 95.08% (nt) and 99.53% (aa), as well as cat's virus strain FRV348 (Nakagomi et al., 2018) with 96.21% (nt) and 99.65% (aa). While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) had closest identity with simian's RVA reported in USA (Brown et al., 2011) with 92.83% (nt) and 98.63% (aa).

For nucleotide and amino acid identities of VP3 gene, dog's RVA in this study (RV25012) had closest identity with dog's RVA strain CU132 and CU23379 from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020), with 98.68%, 98.37% (nt) and 99.03%, 99.28% (aa), respectively. It is noted that one bat's RVA strain LUS12-14 reported in Zambia (Sasaki et al., 2016) also had close identity with dog's RVA in this study, with 98.52% (nt) and 99.03% (aa). While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) had closest identity with human's RVA strain MS2015-1-0001 (Komoto et al., 2021), with 94.06% (nt) and 97.07% (aa). It is noted that two bat's RVA from China, which were strain MYAS33 (Xia et al., 2014) and strain MSLH14 (He et al., 2013) also had close identity with cat's RVA in this study, with 92.03%, 92.07% (nt) and 96.40%, 96.66% (aa), respectively.

For nucleotide and amino acid identities of NSP1 gene, dog's RVA in this study (RV25012) had closest identity with dog's RVA strain CU132 from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020), with 98.57% (nt) and 99.38% (aa). It also had close identity with human's RVA strain 12638 reported in Japan (Okitsu et al., 2018), as well as bat's RVA strain LUS12-14 reported in Zambia (Sasaki et al., 2016), with 98.23%, 98.16% (nt) and 98.54%, 98.75% (aa), respectively. While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) had closest identity with bat's RVA strain MYAS33 from China (Xia et al., 2014), with 94.04% (nt) and 90.24% (aa). It also had close identity with bat's RVA strain MSLH14 from China (He et al., 2013), with 92.38% (nt) and 88.59% (aa).

For nucleotide and amino acid identities of NSP2 gene, dog's RVA in this study (RV25012) had closest identity with dog's RVA strain CU132 from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020), with 98.32% (nt) and 99.37% (aa). It also had close identity with two unusual human's RVA strain 12638 from Japan (Okitsu et al., 2018) and strain PA260-97 from Italy (Matthijnssens et al., 2011b) with 97.48%, 97.17% (nt) and 98.40%, 99.04% (aa), respectively, as well as bat's RVA strain LUS12-

14 from Zambia (Sasaki et al., 2016) with 97.90% (nt) and 98.40% (aa). While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) had closest identity with human's RVA strain MS2015-1-0001 found in Thailand (Komoto et al., 2021) with 92.66% (nt) and 99.04% (aa).

For nucleotide and amino acid identities of NSP3 gene, interestingly, dog's RVA in this study (RV25012) had closest identity with cat's reference RVA strain FRV348 found in Japan, 1994 (Nakagomi et al., 2018) with 95.65% (nt) and 98.05% (aa). While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) had closest identity with bat's RVA strain MYAS333 found in China (Xia et al., 2014) with 96.07% (nt) and 97.38% (aa).

For nucleotide and amino acid identities of NSP4 gene, dog's RVA in this study (RV25012) had closest identity with dog's RVA strain CU132 from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020), with 99.05% (nt) and 98.84% (aa). It also had close identity with two unusual human's RVA strain 12638 from Japan (Okitsu et al., 2018) and strain PA260-97 from Italy (Matthijnssens et al., 2011b) with 97.16%, 97.73% (nt), respectively, and 98.84% equally (aa), as well as cat's reference RVA strain FRV348 (Nakagomi et al., 2018) with 97.73% (nt) and 97.66% (aa). While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) had closest identity with human's RVA strain MS2015-1-0001 (Komoto et al., 2021) with 98.11% (nt) and 98.84% (aa). It also had close identity with bat's RVA strain MSLH14 (He et al., 2013) with 94.32% (nt) and 98.26% (aa).

For nucleotide and amino acid identities of NSP5 gene, dog's RVA in this study (RV25012) had closest identity with dog's RVA strain CU132 and CU23379 from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020), with 99.50%, 99.33% (nt) and 98.98%, 98.98% (aa), respectively. It also had close identity with human's RVA strain 12638 found in Japan (Okitsu et al., 2018) with 98.16% (nt) and 98.46% (aa). While virus from cat in this study (RV25045) had closest identity with human's RVA strain MS2015-1-0001 (Komoto et al., 2021) and bat's RVA strain MYAS33 (Xia et al., 2014) with 96.82% (nt) and 98.46% (aa), equally. It also had close identity with bat's RVA strain MSLH14 (He et al., 2013) with 96.15% (nt) and 97.94% (aa).

In conclusion, the pairwise comparison of nucleotide and amino acid identity showed that, dog's RVA in this study (RV25012) had closest identity with dog's RVA

from the previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020) in 10 gene segments (VP1, VP2, VP3, VP4, VP6, VP7, NSP1, NSP2, NSP4, NSP5), but in VP7 and VP6 gene also closest to human's RVA strain 12638 found in Japan (Okitsu et al., 2018). Interestingly, the only exception was NSP3 gene that had closest identity with cat's reference RVA strain FRV348 (Nakagomi et al., 2018). On the other hands, cat's RVA in this study had closest identity with human's RVA strain CMH079 (Khamrin et al., 2009) in VP7 gene, and strain CMH222 (Khamrin et al., 2006) in VP4 gene, as well as strain MS2015-1-0001 (Komoto et al., 2021) in VP3, NSP2, NSP4, NSP5 genes, these human's RVA were all found in Thailand. There were bat's RVA found in China that had closest identity with cat's RVA in this study, which were strain MSLH14 (He et al., 2013) in VP4 gene, and strain MYAS33 (Xia et al., 2014) in VP6, NSP1, NSP3, NSP5 gene. In VP1 and VP2 gene, cat's RVA in this study had closest identity with simian's RVA reported in USA (Brown et al., 2011).



Table 16: Nucleotide (nt) and amino acid (aa) identities between dog's RVA in this study (RV25012) and reference RVA strains	Nucleotide (nt) and Amino acid (aa) identities (%)

	P3	aa		100.00	91.28	91.70	91.42	91.56	97.92	98.29	99.03	99.28	91.84	98.54	99.03	94.17	93.77	90.99	91.84	90.99	97.92	97.42
	>	nt		96.66	84.93	85.01	85.29	85.09	97.05	97.17	98.68	98.37	84.73	97.21	98.52	87.24	86.80	87.32	85.17	84.61	97.05	94.06
	22	aa		100.00	96.72	96.72	96.46	96.72	96.84	96.21	99.65	99.88	96.59	99.65	96.97	99.53	99.41	95.96	96.84	96.97	99.53	99.76
	5	nt		99.88	82.08	82.04	81.80	82.23	81.88	82.27	98.75	98.28	81.61	96.21	81.69	87.54	88.52	87.04	81.96	81.84	95.08	97.07
	P1	aa		NA	95.40	95.00	95.20	95.40	95.20	95.20	99.45	99.26	94.80	97.56	93.57	95.80	96.20	93.15	95.40	95.40	97.94	99.63
ene	>	ц		NA	86.12	85.58	86.12	86.12	86.00	86.00	98.72	98.48	85.94	93.61	80.10	84.54	87.40	85.15	85.64	85.51	93.73	98.05
Ğ	P6	aa		99.74	96.50	96.50	96.77	97.87	99.48	98.95	99.74	99.48	96.50	99.48	99.21	96.50	96.77	97.33	96.77	96.77	99.48	99.48
	>	t		99.83	84.76	84.33	84.59	85.19	96.97	96.10	98.96	99.05	84.68	96.97	94.46	82.08	82.51	85.37	84.50	84.94	96.97	99.05
	P4	aa		100.00	97.35	96.67	96.40	97.22	96.67	97.08	60.66	98.96	96.67	97.76	98.43	91.47	84.52	87.21	96.53	96.67	97.49	96.26
	>	ц		99.91	93.77	95.10	93.43	95.40	94.12	96.65	98.37	98.11	93.99	97.16	97.51	81.62	75.77	81.01	94.80	93.73	96.82	92.91
	7	aa		100.00	98.75	98.44	98.75	98.75	98.75	93.79	99.38	98.75	98.75	94.48	93.79	95.16	95.83	94.82	99.07	98.75	93.79	99.38
	5	nt		96.90	95.59	94.46	95.59	93.74	94.05	84.31	98.26	97.33	94.05	84.31	84.00	85.64	85.64	84.92	94.97	94.26	83.90	98.56
,ter	country		THA	ТНА	NSA	NSA	NSA	Ndſ	ШA	ITA	ТНА	ТНА	AUS	Ndr	ZMB	CHN	CHN	CHN	NSA	ISR	ITA	NAL
1007	Tear		2020	2020	1979	1981	1982	1982	1995	1996	2017	2019	1984	1994	2012	2012	2013	2015	1984	1985	1997	2014
20000	opecies		Dog	Dog	Dog	Dog	Dog	Dog	Dog	Dog	Dog	Dog	Cat	Cat	Bat	Bat	Bat	Bat	Human	Human	Human	Human
C train	Durain		RV25012	DC25170	A79-10	63	CU-1	RS15	RV198-95	RV52-96	CU132	CU23379	Cat97	FRV348	LUS12-14	MSLH14	MYAS33	LZHP2	HCR3A	Ro1845	PA260-97	12638
Vie	VILOS		RVA/Dog/THA/RV25012/2020/G3P[3]	RVA/Dog/THA/DC25170/2020/G3P[3]	RVA/Dog-tc/USA/A79-10/1979/G3P[3]	RVA/Dog-tc/USA/K9/1981/G3P[3]	RVA/Dog-tc/USA/CU-1/1982/G3P[3]	RVA/Dog-tc/JPN/RS15/1982/G3P[3]	RVA/Dog-tc/ITA/RV198-95/1995/G3P[3]	RVA/Dog-tc/ITA/RV52-96/1996/G3P[3]	RVA/Dog/THA/CU132/2017/G3P[3]	RVA/Dog/THA/CU23379/2019/G3P[3]	RVA/Cat-tc/AUS/Cat97/1984/G3P[3]	RVA/Cat/JPN/FRV348/1994/G3P[3]	RVA/Bat-wt/ZMB/LUS12-14/2012/G3P[3]	RVA/Bat-wt/CHN/MSLH14/2012/G3P[3]	RVA/Bat-wt/CHN/MYAS33/2012/G3P[10]	RVA/Bat-wt/CHN/LZHP2/2015/G3P[3]	RVA/Human-tc/USA/HCR3A/1984/G3P[3]	RVA/Human-tc/ISR/Ro1845/1985/G3P[3]	RVA/Human-tc/ITA/PA260-97/1997/G3P[3]	RVA/Human-wt/JPN/12638/2014/G3P[3]

		ממ/ וחבווו		ראסמון ר	u o sor		nnic cii		ט ובו מ	ם מו	ביים			(
							Nucleo	tide (nt)	and Amii	no acid (a	aa) identi	ties (%)		
									Ğ	ane				
VITUS	otrain	species	Year	Country	SN	P1	Ň	SP2	NS	P3	NS	P4	ISN	5
					ъ	aa	nt	aa	t	aa	t	aa	ц	aa
RVA/Dog/THA/RV25012/2020/G3P[3]	RV25012	Dog	2020	THA										
RVA/Dog/THA/DC25170/2020/G3P[3]	DC25170	Dog	2020	THA	99.73	99.79	06.66	100.00	99.89	100.00	99.62	100.00	100.00	100.00
RVA/Dog-tc/USA/A79-10/1979/G3P[3]	A79-10	Dog	1979	USA	83.41	85.41	84.91	92.54	85.77	92.07	84.28	92.64	93.97	95.24
RVA/Dog-tc/USA/K9/1981/G3P[3]	€2	Dog	1981	NSA	82.73	84.60	85.74	92.54	85.56	92.07	84.28	92.64	93.47	94.12
RVA/Dog-tc/USA/CU-1/1982/G3P[3]	CU-1	Dog	1982	USA	82.87	85.14	85.53	92.91	85.46	91.32	84.28	93.29	94.64	95.24
RVA/Dog-tc/JPN/RS15/1982/G3P[3]	RS15	Dog	1982	Ndſ	82.73	84.60	80.71	86.79	86.52	92.81	91.86	95.21	94.81	95.24
RVA/Dog-tc/ITA/RV198-95/1995/G3P[3]	RV198-95	Dog	1995	ШA	83.14	85.14	96.65	98.40	86.84	92.07	84.09	92.64	94.30	94.68
RVA/Dog-tc/ITA/RV52-96/1996/G3P[3]	RV52-96	Dog	1996	ПA	82.66	84.32	97.27	98.72	86.41	92.07	98.30	98.84	93.63	94.68
RVA/Dog/THA/CU132/2017/G3P[3]	CU132	Dog	2017	THA	98.57	99.38	98.32	99.37	90.98	95.32	99.05	98.84	99.50	98.98
RVA/Dog/THA/CU23379/2019/G3P[3]	CU23379	Dog	2019	THA	98.09	98.96	97.80	99.68	90.98	94.97	98.67	98.84	99.33	98.98
RVA/Cat-tc/AUS/Cat97/1984/G3P[3]	Cat97	Cat	1984	AUS	82.94	84.32	85.32	92.54	86.41	92.44	84.28	92.64	93.63	93.55
RVA/Cat/JPN/FRV348/1994/G3P[3]	FRV348	Cat	1994	NAL	43.28	-152.90	80.82	86.79	95.65	98.05	97.73	97.66	94.14	95.79
RVA/Bat-wt/ZMB/LUS12-14/2012/G3P[3]	LUS12-14	Bat	2012	ZMB	98.16	98.75	97.90	98.40	90.13	94.97	78.03	80.14	89.28	91.80
RVA/Bat-wt/CHN/MSLH14/2012/G3P[3]	MSLH14	Bat	2012	CHN	86.69	92.26	80.29	87.19	87.37	92.81	88.45	93.94	93.30	96.88
RVA/Bat-wt/CHN/MYAS33/2012/G3P[10]	MYAS33	Bat	2013	CHN	87.44	92.73	80.61	87.59	86.62	94.61	87.12	93.94	93.97	97.41
RVA/Bat-wt/CHN/LZHP2/2015/G3P[3]	LZHP2	Bat	2015	CHN	87.03	90.56	81.24	86.79	85.56	92.81	91.29	94.58	92.96	95.79
RVA/Human-tc/USA/HCR3A/1984/G3P[3]	HCR3A	Human	1984	NSA	82.73	84.60	85.74	92.91	85.56	92.44	83.71	92.64	94.30	94.68
RVA/Human-tc/ISR/Ro1845/1985/G3P[3]	Ro1845	Human	1985	ISR	82.87	84.60	85.64	92.91	86.09	93.17	84.47	92.64	93.80	93.55
RVA/Human-tc/ITA/PA260-97/1997/G3P[3]	PA260-97	Human	1997	ITA	43.07	-150.36	97.17	99.04	85.67	91.70	97.73	98.84	94.30	95.24
RVA/Human-wt/JPN/12638/2014/G3P[3]	12638	Human	2014	NAL	98.23	98.54	97.48	98.40	90.76	95.32	97.16	98.84	98.16	98.46

Table 17: Nucleotide (nt) and amino acid (aa) identifies between dog's RVA in this study (RV25012) and reference RVA strains (cont.)

ide (nt) and amin) acid		ווווכס	Derwei	en cat	S RVA				5	5					
								Nucleoti	de (nt) a	ind Amin	o acid (a	a) identii	ties (%)			
	Ű									Gei	e					
	ก๋				Υ	70	ΥΡ	4	1>	P6	VP	1	٨P	2	VP3	_
C					nt	aa	nt	aa	nt	aa	nt	aa	nt	aa	nt	aa
25045	9	Cat	2020	ТНА												
LA 16	. 10	Cat	1984	AUS	85.44	95.83	81.05	91.21	82.51	95.93	86.02	96.22	81.25	95.72	82.81	91.70
. ON		Cat	1984	AUS	82.36	92.03	67.71	58.75	81.21	97.33	85.95	96.02	81.48	95.84	82.62	90.99
348		Cat	1994	NAL	88.10	96.50	81.10	91.36	81.99	96.77	88.79	97.41	88.12	98.14	87.64	93.90
384		Cat	1994	Ndſ	81.44	92.03	67.54	58.75	80.87	97.05	87.04	96.52	87.48	98.38	85.73	92.54
22 U	<u> </u>	Cat	2005	ЦА	81.44	91.30	67.62	59.27	81.21	95.37	79.73	93.64	80.65	95.10	76.20	81.73
-H14		Bat	2012	CHN	88.72	97.48	87.61	97.60	87.88	99.48	84.05	96.62	86.34	98.38	92.07	96.66
4533 E	ш.	Bat	2013	CHN	89.13	98.12	77.71	87.70	95.84	100.00	93.02	98.10	88.65	98.38	92.03	96.40
H222 Hu	- D	man	2001	THA	97.03	98.75	87.66	95.79	83.29	98.14	NA	AN	NA	AN	NA	NA
н 620Н		man	2005	THA	97.23	99.07	NA	NA	94.89	98.95	AN	AN	NA	AN	NA	AN
365 Hu		man	2008	THA	82.15	92.03	67.54	59.52	81.73	97.60	88.10	96.52	87.21	98.38	87.24	94.04
38 H	_	uman	2014	NAL	84.62	94.48	81.44	90.74	81.13	96.77	88.10	97.21	88.61	98.38	87.60	94.17
2015- F		uman	2015	THA	88.38	97.16	77.52	87.54	93.47	100.00	92.10	98.13	88.40	97.93	94.06	97.04
E E	1.7	mian	2002	NSA	79.10	87.97	76.75	85.71	81.32	95.53	93.17	97.84	92.83	98.63	85.77	92.95

/25045) and reference RVA strains (cont.)	
dy (RV:	
n this stu	
s RVA i	
en cat'	
betwee	
identities	
d (aa)	
amino aci	
t) and ;	
9: Nucleotide (n	
Table 1	

Nucleotide (nt) and Amino acid (aa) identities (%)

Gene

Virus	Strain	Snarias	Year	Country						1				
1	5		5		NSI	01	NSI	22	NSF	33	NSF	4	NSF	ίΩ
	C				nt	aa								
RVA/Cat/THA/RV25045/2020/G3P[3]	RV25045	Cat	2020	ТНА										
RVA/Cat-tc/AUS/Cat97/1984/G3P[3]	Cat97	Cat	1984	AUS	82.67	58.94	79.56	87.59	84.29	93.90	84.47	93.94	93.47	95.24
RVA/Cat-tc/AUS/Cat2/1984/G3P[9]	Cat2	Cat	1984	AUS	50.59	NA	80.61	89.16	76.75	79.62	85.23	95.21	89.78	93.55
RVA/Cat/JPN/FRV348/1994//G3P[3]	FRV348	Cat	1994	Ndſ	51.21	NA	88.68	97.41	87.58	96.70	88.83	97.06	92.63	96.34
RVA/Cat/JPN/FRV384/1994//G3P[3]	FRV384	Cat	1994	Ndſ	50.87	NA	91.51	96.74	85.46	95.67	89.39	98.84	88.44	91.21
RVA/Cat-wt/ITA/BA222/2005/G3P[9]	BA222	Cat	2005	ITA	50.31	NA	79.66	85.97	85.88	95.67	78.22	84.11	88.94	91.80
RVA/Bat-wt/CHN/MSLH14/2012/G3P[3]	MSLH14	Bat	2012	CHN	92.38	88.59	91.19	98.40	86.31	94.61	94.32	98.26	96.15	97.94
RVA/Bat-wt/CHN/MYAS33/2012/G3P[3]	MYAS33	Bat	2013	CHN	94.04	90.24	90.78	98.40	96.07	97.38	90.53	98.26	96.82	98.46
RVA/Human-wt/THA/CMH222/2001/G3P[3]	CMH222	Human	2001	THA	NA	NA	NA	NA	AN	NA	87.69	99.43	AN	NA
RVA/Human-wt/THA/CMH079/2005/G3P[10]	CMH079	Human	2005	THA	NA	NA	NA	NA	AN	AN	89.58	97.06	93.80	97.41
RVA/Human-tc/THA/CU-365/2008/G3P[9]	CU365	Human	2008	THA	49.69	NA	90.99	95.72	89.07	98.38	88.64	96.45	93.63	96.88
RVA/Human-wt/JPN/12638/2014/G3P[3]	12638	Human	2014	NAſ	86.63	74.66	81.55	87.59	86.20	95.67	89.02	97.06	93.80	98.46
RVA/Human-wt/THA/MS2015-1-0001/G3P[10]	MS2015- 1-0001	Human	2015	ТНА	88.64	92.58	92.66	99.04	87.26	96.36	98.11	98.84	96.82	98.46
RVA/Rhesus-tc/USA/TUCH/2002/G3P[24]	TUCH	Simian	2002	NSA	86.68	92.11	81.45	88.38	92.25	95.67	84.28	93.94	94.30	98.98

4.3.5 Genetic diversity of RVA based on genetic constellation analysis

From genotyping of each gene segment of RVA, the combination of 11 genotypes from each gene segment were analyzed and called as genetic constellation. The genetic constellation of RVA in this study were compared with closely related strains from phylogenetic analysis, as well as some other important reference strains.

The result showed that, 2 viruses from dogs in this study (RV25012 and DC25170) which had the G3-P[3]-I3-R3-C3-M3-A9-N2-T3-E3-H6 genotype, were in the same genetic constellation as dog's RVA from previous reported in Thailand, in 2017 and 2019 (Charoenkul et al., 2020). From our knowledge, this genetic constellation has never been reported in dogs in other countries before. Interestingly, there was a reported of one human's RVA that belonged in this genetic constellation, which was strain 12638 found in Japan (Okitsu et al., 2018).

On the other hands, virus from cat in this study (RV25045) which had the G3-P[3]-I8-R3-C3-M3-A9-N3-T3-E3-H6 genotype, to our knowledge, this genetic constellation has never been reported in cat before, but had been found in bat's RVA, strain MSLH14 reported in China (He et al., 2013). The genetic constellation of RVA in this study and reference strains are showed in Table 20.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

Table 20: Genetic constellation of	RVAs in this	study aı	nd refer	ence stra	ains										
Merico	Ctto Ctto	Coorior	2007							Gene					
	oualli	operies	במו	COULIER	VP7	VP4	VP6	VP1	VP2	VP3 I	NSP1	NSP2	NSP3	NSP4	NSP5
This study															
Canine															
RVA/Dog/THA/RV25012/2020/G3P[3]	RV25012	Dog	2020	ТНА	63	P[3]	5	R3	ប	M3	A9	N2	T3	ß	Нб
RVA/Dog/THA/DC25170/2020/G3P[3]	DC25170	Dog	2020	ТНА	G3	P[3]	5	×	ប	M3	A9	N2	Т3	E	Нб
Feline		_	A CONTRACT				E E								
RVA/Cat/THA/RV25045/2020/G3P[3]	RV25045	Cat	2020	ТНА	G3	P[3]	8	R3	ប	M3	A9	N3	Т3	Ш	H6
Reference strain	้มห)RN					T.	Q								
Canine	าวิ U	_		4				120							
RVA/Dog-tc/USA/A79-10/1979/G3P[3]	A79-10	Dog	1979	USA	63	P[3]	13	R3	C2	M3	A9	N2	Т3	E3	Н6
RVA/Dog-tc/USA/K9/1981/G3P[3]	13 E6	Dog	1981	USA	G 3	P[3]	33	R3	C2	M3	A9	N2	Т3	E3	Н6
RVA/Dog-tc/USA/CU-1/1982/G3P[3]	CU-1	Dog	1982	NSA	G3	P[3]	13	R3	C2	M3	A9	N2	Т3	E3	Н6
RVA/Dog-tc/JPN/RS15/1982/G3P[3]	RS15	Dog	1982	Ndſ	G3	P[3]	13	R3	C2	M3	A9	N3	Т3	E3	Н6
RVA/Dog-tc/ITA/RV198-95/1995/G3P3	RV198-95	Dog	1995	ITA	G3	P[3]	13	R3	C2	M3	A9	N2	Т3	E3	Н6
RVA/Dog-tc/ITA/RV52-96/1996/G3P[3	RV52-96	Dog	1996	ITA	G3	P[3]	13	R3	C2	M3	A9	N2	Т3	E3	9Н
RVA/Dog/THA/CU132/2017/G3P[3]	CU132	Dog	2017	THA	G3	P[3]	5	R3	Ű	M3	A9	N2	Т3	£	9H
RVA/Dog/THA/CU20139/2017/G3P[3]	CU20139	Dog	2017	THA	G3	P[3]	5	R3	ប	M3	A9	N2	Т3	£	9Н
RVA/Dog/THA/CU23379/2019/G3P[3]	CU23379	Dog	2019	THA	63	P[3]	5	R3	Ű	M3	A9	N2	Т3	E	H6

_	
~	
	_

714112	Ctroip	Coorior	2007							Gene					
5D E A	201011	cheries			VP7	VP4	VP6	VP1	VP2	VP3 I	VSP1	NSP2	NSP3	NSP4	NSP5
Feline															
RVA/Cat-tc/AUS/Cat97/1984/G3P[3]	Cat97	Cat	1984	AUS	G3	P[3]	13	R3	C2	M3	A9	N2	Т3	E3	9Н
RVA/Cat-tc/AUS/Cat2/1984/G3P[9]	Cat2	Cat	1984	AUS	G3	P[9]	13	R3	Ű	M3	A3	N1	Т6	E3	H3
RVA/Cat/JPN/FRV348/1994//G3P[3]	FRV348	Cat	1994	Ndſ	G3	P[3]	13	R3	C	M3	A15	N3	Т3	E3	9Н
RVA/Cat/JPN/FRV384/1994//G3P[3]	FRV384	Cat	1994	Ndr	G3	P[9]	13	R3	C	M3	A3	N3	Т3	E3	H3
RVA/Cat-wt/ITA/BA222/2005/G3P[9]	BA222	Cat	2005	ITA	63	P[9]	2	R2	C2	M2	A3	N1	Т3	E2	H3
Horse	รณ์ GK(2/1	MIN	165							
RVA/Horse-wt/ARG/E30/1993/G3P[12]	E30	Horse	1993	ARG	63	P[12]	90	R2	C2	M3	A10	N2	Т3	E12	H7
RVA/Horse/ARG/E3198/2008/G3P[3]	E3198	Horse	2008	ARG	63	P[3]	13	R3	C	M3	A9	N3	Т3	E3	9Н
Bat	ทย NIV														
RVA/Bat-wt/ZMB/LU512-14/2012/G3P[3]	LUS12-14	Bat	2012	ZMB	G3	P[3]	<u>5</u>	R2	5	M3	A9	N2	Т3	E2	H3
RVA/Bat-wt/CHN/MSLH14/2012/G3P[3]	MSLH14	Bat	2012	CHN	G3	P[3]	8	R3	ប	M3	A9	N3	Т3	E	Н6
RVA/Bat-wt/CHN/MYAS33/2012/G3P[10]	MYAS33	Bat	2013	CHN	G3	P[10]	8	R3	C	M3	A9	N3	Т3	E3	9H
RVA/Bat-wt/CMR/BatLi09/2014/G30P[42]	BatLi09	Bat	2014	CMR	G30	P[42]	122	R15	C15	M14	A25	N15	Τ17	E22	H17
RVA/Bat-wt/CHN/LZHP2/2015/G3P[3]	LZHP2	Bat	2015	CHN	G3	P[3]	13	R3	C3	M3	A9	N3	Т3	E3	9Н
Cow															
RVA/Cow-tc/USA/WC3/1981/G6P[5]	WC3	Bovine	1981	USA	G6	P[5]	12	R2	5	M2	A3	N2	Т6	E2	H3

															72
										Gene	0				
VILUS	otrain	opecies	rear	Country	VP7	VP4	VP6	VP1	VP2	VP3	NSP1	NSP2	NSP3	NSP4	NSP5
Avian															
RVA/Avian/JPN/PO13/1988/G18P[17]	PO13	Avian	1988	NAL	G18	P[17]	4	R4	C4	N4	A4	N4	Т4	E4	Н4
Swine	C														
RVA/Pig-tc/MEX/YM/1983/G11P[7]	W	Porcine	1983	MEX	G11	P[7]	5	R1	1	M1	A8	N1	T1	E1	Н1
RVA/Pig-tc/VEN/A131/1988/G3P[7]	A131	Porcine	1988	VEN	G3	P[7]	15	R1	C2	M1	A1	N1	T1	E1	H1
RVA/Pig-tc/VEN/A253/1988/G11P[7]	A253	Porcine	1988	VEN	G11	P[7]	ß	R1	C2	M1	A1	N1	T1	E1	H1
RVA/Pig-tc/ESP/OSU-C5111/2010/GP[7]	OSU-C511	Porcine	2010	ESP	G5	P[7]	Ŀ	R1	1	M1	A1	N1	T1	E1	H1
Human	โมห)RN						Q								
RVA/Human-tc/USA/Wa/1974/G1P[8]	Ma	Human	1974	NSA	G1	P[8]	T.	B1	ü	M1	A1	N1	디	E1	H1
RVA/Human-tc/USA/DS-1/1976/G2P[4]	DS-1	Human	1976	NSA	G2	P[4]	2	R2	C2	M2	A2	N2	Т2	E2	H2
RVA/Human-tc/JPN/AU-1/1982/G3P[9]	AU-1	Human	1982	Ndſ	G3	P[9]	3	R3	Ű	M3	A3	N3	Т3	E3	H3
RVA/Human-tc/USA/HCR3A/1984/G3P[3]	HCR3A	Human	1984	NSA	G3	P[3]	13	R3	C2	M3	A9	N2	Т3	ß	9Н
RVA/Human-tc/ISR/Ro1845/1985/G3P[3]	Ro1845	Human	1985	ISR	G3	P[3]	13	R3	C2	M3	A9	N2	Т3	ß	9Н
RVA/Human-wt/ITA/PAH136/1996/G3P[9]	PAH136	Human	1996	ITA	G3	P[9]	2	R2	C2	M2	A3	N1	Т6	E2	H3
RVA/Human-wt/ITA/PA158/1996/G3P[9]	PA158	Human	1996	ITA	G3	P[9]	12	R2	C2	M2	A3	N2	Т6	E2	H3
RVA/Human-tc/ITA/PA260-97/1997/G3P[3]	PA260-97	Human	1997	ITA	G3	P[3]	13	R3	C	M3	A15	N2	Т3	ß	9Н
RVA/Human-tc/THA/T152/1998/G12P[9]	T152	Human	1998	THA	G12	P[9]	13	R3	Ű	M3	A12	N3	Т3	E3	9Н
RVA/Human-wt/THA/CMH222/2001/G3P[3]	CMH222	Human	2001	THA	G3	P[3]	8							ß	ī

Vience		, and a second	2007							Gene	4				
SD II A	201011	concertes			VP7	VP4	VP6	VP1	VP2	VP3	NSP1	NSP2	NSP3	NSP4	NSP5
RVA/Human-wt/THA/CMH079/2005/G3P[10]	CMH079	Human	2005	THA	G3	P[10]	8					,	,	E3	9H
RVA/Human-tc/CHN/L621/2006/G3P[9]	L621	Human	2006	CHN	G 3	P[9]	5	R3	Ű	M3	A3	N3	Т3	E3	9Н
RVA/Human-tc/THA/CU-365/2008/G3P[9]	CU365	Human	2008	THA	G3	P[9]	13	R3	C	M3	A3	N3	Т3	E3	9H
RVA/Human/BRA/R2638/2011/G3P[3]	R2638	Human	2011	BRA	G3	P[3]	•			·	ī	ï	'	·	ı
RVA/Human-wt/BRA/1A3739/2011/G3P9	1A3739	Human	2011	BRA	63	P[9]	118	R3	C	М×	A19	N3	Т3	E3	H6
RVA/Human-wt/CHN/E2451/2011/G3P[9]	E2451	Human	2011	CHN	63	[6]d	ß	R3	C	M3	A3	N3	Т3	E3	Н6
RVA/Human-wt/JPN/12638/2014/G3P[3]	12638	Human	2014	Ndſ	G3	P[3]	<u>5</u>	R3	Ű	M3	A9	N2	Т3	E3	H6
RVA/Human-wt/THA/MS2015-1- 0001/2015/G3P[10]	MS2015-1- 0001	Human	2015	THA	3	P[10]	000	R3	C	M3	A9	N3	13	ß	9Н
	วิท Jni		ad	504				1,3							
		5)		2	2	5									

4.3.6 Genetic diversity of RVA by reassortment analysis

The vistaplot and bootscan analysis were done to detect the reassortment events of RVAs in this study. The reassortment events were detected by the breakpoint (the point of which 2 sequences were exchanged) and high percentage of permuted trees (Y-Axis) from bootscan analysis.

In dogs, RV25012 was selected as the representative of dog's RVA in this study to use as query sequence to do the analysis. Three other closely related RVA strains were included in the analysis, including dog's RVA strain CU132 from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020), human's RVA strain 12638 found in Japan (Okitsu et al., 2018), and cat's reference RVA strain FRV348 (Nakagomi et al., 2018).

The result from vistaplot analysis showed that dog's RVA strain CU132 (Charoenkul et al., 2020) had high similarity with dog's virus in this study (RV25012) along the concatenated sequence, except the NSP3 gene part. Moreover, human's RVA strain 12638 (Okitsu et al., 2018) had high similarity with RV25012 in VP6 gene and also in some part of VP7, VP1, VP2, NSP1, and NSP5 gene. While cat's reference RVA strain FRV348 (Nakagomi et al., 2018) had high similarity with RV25012 in some part of VP4, VP6, VP3 and NSP4 gene. It is noted that in NSP3 gene, FRV348 had the highest similarity with RV25012, among these 3 closely related strains. The vistaplot analysis of dog's RVA in this study (RV25012) showed in Figure 35. For bootscan analysis, the result showed that there was the possibility of reassortment events of dog's RVA in this study from these 3 closely related RVA strains. The analysis showed 6 obvious breakpoints between VP7-VP4, VP4-VP6, VP6-VP1, VP3-NSP1, NSP2-NSP3, and NSP4-NSP5. The RVA strains with high percentage of permuted trees may indicated the reassortment events from that strain in that segment of the virus. The result might be concluded that 4 gene segments which included VP4, VP2, VP3, NSP5 were reassorted from dog's RVA strain CU132, one gene segment from human's RVA strain 12638, which was VP6, and 2 gene segments might be from cat's reference RVA strain FRV348, which were NSP3 and NSP4. It is noted that in VP7, VP1, NSP1, and NSP2 gene, the bootscan analysis showed the inconclusive pattern which might result from the reassortment of other strains of RVA or recombinant events from many RVA strains in this gene segments. The bootscan analysis of dog's RVA in this study (RV25012) showed in Figure 36.

In cats, RV25045 was use as query sequence to do the analysis. Four closely related RVA strains were selected to include in the analysis, including 2 bat's RVAs from China, strain MSLH14 (He et al., 2013), and strain MYAS33 (Xia et al., 2014), one from human's RVA strain MS2015-1-0001 found in Thailand (Komoto et al., 2021), and one simian's RVA strain TUCH reported in USA (Brown et al., 2011).

The result from vistaplot analysis showed that none of these 4 RVAs strains had high similarity with cat's RVA in this study (RV25045) along the concatenated sequence. However, bat's RVA strain MYAS33 (Xia et al., 2014) had high similarity with cat's RVA in this study in VP6, and some part of NSP3 and NSP4 gene. Moreover, human's RVA strain MS2015-1-0001 (Komoto et al., 2021) also had high similarity with RV25045 in some part of VP3, NSP4, and NSP5 gene. While virus from simian strain TUCH (Brown et al., 2011) had high similarity with RV25045 in some part of VP2 gene. It is also noted that bat's RVA strain MSLH14 (He et al., 2013) had the highest similarity with RV25045 in VP4 gene, among these 4 closely related strains. The vistaplot analysis of cat's RVA in this study (RV25045) showed in Figure 37. For bootscan analysis, the result showed that there was the possibility of reassortment events of cat's RVA in this study from these 4 closely related RVA strains. The analysis showed 8 obvious breakpoints between VP7-VP4, VP4-VP6, VP1-VP2, VP2-VP3, VP3-NSP1, NSP1-NSP2, NSP2-NSP3, and NSP3-NSP4. The RVA strains with high percentage of permuted trees may indicated the reassortment events from that strain in that segment of the virus. The result might be concluded that VP4 was the reassortment of bat's RVA strain MSLH14, 2 gene were reassorted from another bat's virus strain MYAS33, which were VP6 and NSP3 gene. While VP3 and NSP4 gene were reassorted from human's virus strain MS2015-1-0001, the last was VP2 gene, which was the reassortment of simian's virus strain TUCH (Brown et al., 2011). It is noted that in VP7, VP1, NSP1, NSP2, and NSP5 gene, the bootscan analysis showed the inconclusive pattern which might result from the reassortment of other strains of RVA or recombinant events from many RVA strains in this gene segments.

The bootscan analysis of cat's RVA in this study (RV25045) showed in Figure 38.





X-axis; Nucleotide position, Y-axis; Percentage of similarity.





X-axis; Nucleotide position, Y-axis; Percentage of permuted trees, Red line; strain CU132, Blue line; strain 12638, Yellow line; strain FRV348.

- 12638 - FRV348 - CU132



Figure 37: Vistaplot analysis between cat's RVA in this study (RV25045) and closely related strains X-axis; Nucleotide position, Y-axis; Percentage of similarity.





Chapter 5

Discussion

5.1 Occurrence of RVA in dogs and cats in Bangkok and vicinity.

In this study, from 572 rectal swab samples from dogs and cats, the occurrence of rotavirus A (RVA) was 1.92% (11/572). By species, we found 2.75% (8/290) occurrence of canine rotavirus A (CRVA) in dogs which was higher than the occurrence in the previous study in Thailand which was only 0.7% (5/710) (Charoenkul et al., 2020). However, the occurrence of CRVA in dogs in this study was lower than those in other studies in other countries, which were 39.7% (31/78) in Germany (Otto et al., 2015), 16.33% (16/98) in Iran (Mosallanejad et al., 2015), 40% (18/45) in Mexico (Ortega et al., 2017) and 8.2% (15/184) in Brazil (Alves et al., 2018). In cats, we found only 1.06% (3/282) occurrence of feline rotavirus A (FRVA), which was lower than the occurrence in other studies, which were 50% (23/46) in Germany (Otto et al., 2015) and 3% (57/1727) in United Kingdom (German et al., 2015). To the best of our knowledge, this thesis is the first to report FRVA in Thailand.

By age of animals, according to life stage of dogs and cats, we found 4.88% (6/123) occurrence of rotavirus A in puppy and kitten. In dogs, we found occurrence of CRVA in only two life stage, which were 7.81% (5/64) in puppy life stage, and 6.12% (3/49) in senior life stage. While in cats, there were 1.69% (1/59) and 2.41% (2/83) occurrence of FRVA in kitten and adult life stage, respectively. In detail, there were 54.55% (6/11) of animals age less than 6 months (puppy/kitten life stage). Moreover, 62.5% (5/8) of dogs with positive CRVA were ages less than 6 months (puppy life stage), which were the same as other studies that most positive animal were the young age animals (Mosallanejad et al., 2015; Charoenkul et al., 2020). This result speculated that age is one of the risk factors affecting the occurrence of RVA in dogs but should be confirm by statistical analysis, while in cats the result is still inconclusive.

5.2 Genetic diversity of RVA in dogs and cats

5.2.1 Genotype of RVA in dogs and cats

For genotyping of RVA in this study, 2 viruses from dogs (RV25012, DC25170) were identified as genotype G3P[3], which are the same RVA genotype as previous study in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020). Our result supported the additional evidence that G3P[3] is the predominant genotype circulating in dogs in Thailand which similar to RVA genotype in dogs worldwide (Tsugawa and Hoshino, 2008; Martella et al., 2010; Matthijnssens et al., 2011b; Doro et al., 2015; Mihalov-Kovács et al., 2015). It is noted that, the G3P[3] genotype still the only genotype ever reported in dogs. For genotyping of RVA in cats, the virus (RV25045) was classified as genotype G3P[3], which is the first report of feline rotavirus A (FRVA) in Thailand. Notably, the FRVA genotype G3P[3] had been reported in cats worldwide (Martella et al., 2011; German et al., 2015; Nakagomi et al., 2018). Apart from FRVA genotype G3P[3] in cats, there were other genotypes ever reported in cats e.g. G3P[9] (Martella et al., 2011; Nakagomi et al., 2018), and G6P[9] (German et al., 2015). The RVA genotype G3P[3] also had been found in other animal species such as strain E3198 in horse (Mino et al., 2013), strain LUS12-14, and MSLH14 in bats (He et al., 2013; Sasaki et al., 2016). It is interesting to noted that the genotype G3P[3] had also been reported in human in several countries such as strain HCR3A in USA, strain Ro1845 in Israel (Tsugawa and Hoshino, 2008), strain PA260-97 in Italy (De Grazia et al., 2007), strain R2638 in Brazil (Luchs et al., 2012), strain 12638 in Japan (Okitsu et al., 2018) and strain CMH222 in Thailand (Khamrin et al., 2006). These publications supports the speculation of interspecies transmission and zoonotic potential of RVA genotype G3P[3].

For the RVA classification based on all 11 genes (VP7-VP4-VP6-VP1-VP2-VP3-NSP1-NSP2-NSP3-NSP4-NSP5), our results showed that 2 RVAs from dogs (RV25012, DC25170) were classified into genotype G3-P[3]-I3-R3-C3-M3-A9-N2-T3-E3-H6 which are the same genotype as previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020). It is interesting to note that genotype C3 of VP2 gene found in dogs in Thailand had never been reported in dogs in other countries, but had been reported in other species such as cat (Nakagomi et al., 2018), horse (Mino et al., 2013), bat (He et al.,

2013) , and human (Okitsu et al., 2018), which might be the result from reassortment of the virus in these animal species.

On the other hand, the virus from cat (RV25045) was classified into RVA genotype G3-P[3]-I8-R3-C3-M3-A9-N3-T3-E3-H6. According to the report worldwide, the genotype I8 of VP6 gene has never been reported in cats before, but had been found in bats in China, strain MSLH14 (He et al., 2013), and strain MYAS33 (Xia et al., 2014). Interestingly, genotype I8 of VP6 gene had also been reported in 3 human's virus in Thailand which include strain CMH222 (Khamrin et al., 2006), strain CMH079 (Khamrin et al., 2009), and strain MS2015-1-0001 (Komoto et al., 2021). Our result suggested that RVAs had been circulating in cats, bats, and human, and the reassortment event of RVAs in these animals and/or human might have been occurred.

5.2.2 Genetic constellation of RVA in dogs and cats

The combination of 11 genotypes from each gene segment were analyzed and called as genetic constellation. In this study 2 viruses from dogs in this study (RV25012, DC25170) had the G3-P[3]-I3-R3-C3-M3-A9-N2-T3-E3-H6 genotype, which belongs to AU-1 genetic constellation. The dog's RVAs genetic constellation have composition of gene segments of both AU-1-like (VP2) and Cat-like genogroup (10 segments), same as previous study in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020). From our knowledge, these genetic constellations have never been reported in dogs in other countries but one study from Japan reported this genetic constellation in human's virus strain 12638 (Okitsu et al., 2018), which could support the evidence of zoonotic potential of this RVA in dogs.

RVA from cat in this study (RV25045) was classified as genotype G3-P[3]-I8-R3-C3-M3-A9-N3-T3-E3-H6 genotype, which also belongs to AU-1 genetic constellation. This cat's RVA genetic constellation has composition of gene segments of AU-1-like (VP2), Cat-like genogroup (9 segments), and one additional unique genotype of VP6 gene segment (I8), which makes this genetic constellation unique from other RVAs in cats. Interestingly, this genetic constellation had been reported once in China's bat

strain MSLH14 (He et al., 2013), which could support the evidence of interspecies transmission between RVAs in cat and bat species.

5.2.3 Interspecies transmission, reassortment event, and zoonotic potential of RVA in dogs and cats

Based on the result from phylogenetic analysis, nucleotide identities, and bootscan analysis, dog's RVAs in this study (RV25012, DC25170) could have been the result of multiple reassortment from dog, human, and cat's viruses. Our result found that 2 dog's RVAs in this study (RV25012, DC25170) had closest genetic relationship with dog's RVAs from previous report in Thailand (Charoenkul et al., 2020) in 9 segments (VP1, VP2, VP3, VP4, VP7, NSP1, NSP2, NSP4, NSP5) with around 98-99% nucleotide and amino acid identities, but in VP6 gene, it was closest to human's virus strain 12638 found in Japan (Okitsu et al., 2018) with 99% nucleotide and amino acid identity. The result of bootscan analysis also showed that VP6 gene might be the result of reassortment from this human strain. Interestingly, this human's virus also had same genetic constellation with dog's virus in this study, which could support the evidence of zoonotic potential of dog's RVAs in this study. Moreover, NSP3 gene of dog's virus in this study had closest genetic relationship with cat's reference RVA strain FRV348 (Nakagomi et al., 2018) with 95-98% nucleotide and amino acid identity and bootscan analysis also showed the result of reassortment event of NSP3 and NSP4 gene from this cat strain. The schematic presentation of possible multiple reassortment of dog's RVAs in this study is shown in Figure 39. The multiple reassortment of RVA in dogs had also been reported in other studies (Matthijnssens et al., 2011b) including the previous study in Thailand which reported the reassortment of RVA originated from human and bats (Charoenkul et al., 2020). Moreover, there were also many reports of canine-like RVA found in human (De Grazia et al., 2007; Grant et al., 2011; Luchs et al., 2012; Okitsu et al., 2018), and these canine-like human RVA were all classified in genotype G3P[3], same as all dog RVAs. It should be noted that the inconclusive result of bootscan analysis in VP7, VP1, NSP1, and NSP2 gene might be the result of reassortment from other strains of the virus, or might be the intragenic recombination of the virus from many strains,

which might be rare but had been reported in some studies in human (Parra et al., 2004; Phan et al., 2007; Esona et al., 2017; Hoxie and Dennehy, 2020) but never been reported in dog. Thus, this study could support the evidence of reassortment event, and the possibility of intragenic recombinant occurred in dog's RVA and the zoonotic potential of the virus.

For RVA in cat in this study (RV25045), the result from phylogenetic analysis, nucleotide identities, and bootscan analysis showed that RV25045 had closest genetic relationship with human's virus found in Thailand, which include strain CMH079 in VP7 gene, and strain CMH222 (Khamrin et al., 2006) in VP4 gene, as well as strain MS2015-1-0001 (Komoto et al., 2021) in VP3, NSP2, NSP4, NSP5 genes, with around 87-99% nucleotide and amino acid identities. The bootscan analysis also showed that the reassortment event from human's virus strain MS2015-1-0001 might occurred in VP3 and NSP4 gene. This could support the evidence of zoonotic potential of this virus strain. It should be noted that human's virus strain CMH222 and CMH079 were not included in bootscan analysis due to incomplete whole genome sequences of both strains, which unfortunately because it could be helpful for the analysis of reassortment or interspecies transmission and probable zoonotic potential of the virus. In other segments, there were bat's RVA found in China that had closest genetic relationship with cat's RVA in this study, which were strain MSLH14 (He et al., 2013) in VP4 gene, and strain MYAS33 (Xia et al., 2014) in VP6, NSP1, NSP3, and NSP5 gene, with around 87-100% nucleotide and amino acid identities. In VP1 and VP2 genes, cat's RVA in this study had closest genetic relationship with simian's RVA strain TUCH reported in USA (Brown et al., 2011), with 93-98% nucleotide and amino acid identities. The bootscan analysis had showed the result of reassortment from bat's virus strain MSLH14 in VP4 gene, and from strain MYAS33 in VP6 and NSP3 gene, and from simian in VP2 gene. It should be noted that in VP4 gene, even though the closest genetic relationship with cat's virus in this study were human's virus strain CMH222 and bat's virus strain MSLH14, but the nucleotide and amino acid identities were low compared to other segment, with only 87% (nt) and 95-97% (aa), this result might suggest that there might be the reassortment of this segment from other RVAs that never had been discovered. Interestingly, even though cat's RVA in this study had the same genotype with some cat's reference strain in almost every segment (except VP6), but there were none of any segments were closely related to cat's reference strain by phylogenetic analysis or nucleotide/amino acid identities. Moreover, cat's RVA in this study was more likely to related to bat-like RVA strains and had the same genetic constellation with bat's virus strain MSLH14 (He et al., 2013). The human's RVA strain MS2015-1-0001 found in Thailand which was closely related with cat's RVA in this study were also closely related to bat or bat-like RVA and had showed the evidence of direct interspecies transmission from bat to human (Komoto et al., 2021), while human's RVAs strain CMH222 and strain CMH079 together with simian's RVA strain TUCH had showed the possibility of multiple reassortment from many animal species (Khamrin et al., 2006; Khamrin et al., 2009; Matthijnssens et al., 2010). Multiple reassortment of RVA in cats had also been reported in some studies (Martella et al., 2011; Matthijnssens et al., 2011b). Thus, the origin of cat's RVA in this study is still inconclusive, it might speculate that direct interspecies transmission of the virus from other intermediate species to cats might occur and the reassortment event might happen in those intermediate species. The schematic presentation of possible direct interspecies transmission of cat's RVA in this study is shown in Figure 40. Moreover, bat and simian's RVAs that closely related with cat's RVA in this study were from other countries. Since the study of RVA in these species in Thailand are still limited, so further study of RVA in bats, simians, and other wildlife species in Thailand will be helpful for the analysis and understanding the origin of cat's RVA and genetic relationship among these species.

In conclusion, this study had found the occurrence of RVAs in dogs and cats in Thailand, which was lower compared to the studies in other countries. We also found that age could be the risk factor affecting the occurrence of RVAs in dogs, but the result in cats is still inconclusive. In dog's RVAs, we had found the evidence of multiple reassortment from dog, human, and cat's RVAs. While in cat RVA, we found that the virus might had the direct interspecies transmission from intermediate species to cat and the reassortment event might occurred in that intermediate species. The zoonotic potential had also been speculated in both dog and cat RVAs. Furthermore, the study of RVAs in bat, simian and other wildlife species in Thailand should be done to find the origin of cat's RVA and to understand the genetic relationship among these species and also the genetic evolution of the virus.



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY



Figure 39: Schematic presentation of possible multiple reassortment of dog's RVA in this study



Figure 40: Schematic presentation of possible interspecies transmission of cat's RVA in this study

Conclusion

Rotavirus A (RVA) in one of the important pathogens causing gastroenteritis in human and many animal species. The zoonotic potential of RVA has been reported and raises major concerns, especially in high animal-human interface settings. The objectives of this thesis were to determine the occurrence of RVA in dogs and cats, and to investigate the genetic diversity and genetic relationship among the RVAs from dogs, cats, human, and other animal species. The total of 572 rectal swab samples were collected from dogs and cats in animal hospitals, in Bangkok and vicinities, during January 2020 to June 2021 (18 months). Our result found 1.92% (11/572) occurrence of RVA in dogs and cats, which by species were 2.75% (8/290) in dogs, and 1.06% (3/282) in cats. Age of animals might be the risk factor affecting the occurrence of RVAs in dogs and should be confirm with statistical analysis, but the result in cats is still inconclusive. Besides, our finding is the first report of RVA in cats in Thailand.

Two RVAs from dogs (RV25012, DC25170) and one RVA from cat (RV25045) were subjected to whole genome sequencing. The genetic characterization of the virus showed that all 3 RVAs were classified as RVA genotype G3P[3]. In detail, genetic constellation of dog's RVAs had the G3-P[3]-I3-R3-C3-M3-A9-N2-T3-E3-H6 genotype, which is the same as that in the previous study in Thailand but different genetic constellation from dog's RVAs in other countries. Moreover, this genetic constellation had been reported in human's RVA, suggesting the zoonotic potential of this virus strain. While genetic constellation of RVA from a cat had G3-P[3]-I8-R3-C3-M3-A9-N3-T3-E3-H6 genotype, which never been reported in cats before, but was found in bat in China, suggesting the possible of interspecies transmission of this virus strain. Both dog and cat's RVAs genetic constellation have composition of gene segments of AU-1-like and Cat-like genogroup.

The phylogenetic analysis and pairwise comparison analysis showed that dog's RVAs in this study were closely related and had high nucleotide/amino acid identities to dog's RVAs from previous reported in Thailand in 9 segment (98-99% nt

and aa), except VP6 gene which were closely related to human's RVA in Japan (99% nt and aa), and NSP3 gene which was closely related to cat's reference strain (95-98% nt and aa). The result of bootscan analysis also supported the possible reassortment of these dog's RVAs, suggesting the possible multiple reassortments from dog, human, and cat's viruses. On the other hands, RVA from cat in this study (RV25045) was closely related to RVA in human, bat, and simian in different segments (87-100% nt and aa), suggesting possible of multiple reassortment and zoonotic potential of this virus. Moreover, the result of bootscan analysis also showed the possible reassortment in this study were closely related to cat's reference strain, which might indicate that interspecies transmission of the RVA from some animal species to cat had been occurred, and the reassortment event might have happened before in those animal species. Thus, this study had reported the occurrence of RVA in dogs and cats, and suggesting the possible multiple reassortment, interspecies transmission, as well as zoonotic potential of the viruses.

Based on the result of this thesis, it has raised public health awareness on the zoonotic potential of RVAs in dogs and cats. Thus, the following recommendations should be provided

- The households with dogs or cats (especially puppy) should have personal hygiene practice, such as "frequent handwashing" especially after playing with pets, to protect the zoonotic diseases cause by RVAs from dogs or cats, especially in children.
- The household areas and pet cages should be regularly cleaned and sanitized.
- The close contact behaviors with dogs and cats such as "human face licking" should be avoid.
- The detection of RVAs infection in dogs and cats (especially puppy) should be considered by veterinarians due to its public health concern.

- The risk communication with high-risk occupations such as veterinarians, vet-nurses, and shelter/kennel's caretakers should also be provided. The personal protective equipment (PPE) including gloves, surgical mask, and protective suit (e.g. gown, scrub suit, boots, etc.) should be used when handling with animals or when working in the facilities with crowded animals. The personal hygiene should also be reminded.
- Routine cleaning of the facilities with crowded animals such as animal hospitals, animal shelters, dog/cat hotels, and dog/cat kennels should be done.

These practices will help minimize risk of RVAs transmission and infection as well as reduce a chance of reassortment event, interspecies transmission, and evolution of RVAs.

Recommendations for further studies are 1) study of RVAs in larger scale in dogs and cats to determine the occurrence, distribution, and genetic diversity of RVAs should be performed in other provinces in Thailand, and/or in other facilities with crowded animals such as animal shelters, animal kennels, etc. 2) study of RVAs in bats, simians, and other wildlife species in Thailand should be done for better understand the origin and evolution of the virus, and to determine the genetic relationship among the RVAs in the future.

Chulalongkorn University

REFERENCES

- Alves CDBT, Granados OFO, Budaszewski RdF, Streck AF, Weber MN, Cibulski SP, Pinto LD, Ikuta N and Canal CW 2018. Identification of enteric viruses circulating in a dog population with low vaccine coverage. Braz J Microbiol. 49: 790-794.
- Anderson EJ and Weber SG 2004. Rotavirus infection in adults. Lancet Infect Dis. 4(2): 91-99.
- Ansari SA, Springthorpe VS and Sattar SA 1991. Survival and Vehicular Spread of Human Rotaviruses: Possible Relation to Seasonality of Outbreaks. Rev Infect Dis. 13(3): 448-461.
- Bányai K, Bogdán Á, Domonkos G, Kisfali P, Molnár P, Tóth A, Melegh B, Martella V, Gentsch JR and Szücs G 2009. Genetic diversity and zoonotic potential of human rotavirus strains, 2003–2006, hungary. J Med Virol. 81(2): 362-370.
- Bányai K, Gentsch JR, Griffin DD, Holmes JL, Glass RI and Szücs G 2003. Genetic variability among serotype G6 human rotaviruses: Identification of a novel lineage isolated in Hungary. J Med Virol. 71(1): 124-134.
- Banyai K, Kemenesi G, Budinski I, Foldes F, Zana B, Marton S, Varga-Kugler R, Oldal M, Kurucz K and Jakab F 2017. Candidate new rotavirus species in Schreiber's bats, Serbia. Infect Genet Evol. 48: 19-26.
- Banyai K, Papp H, Dandar E, Molnar P, Mihaly I, Van Ranst M, Martella V and Matthijnssens J 2010. Whole genome sequencing and phylogenetic analysis of a zoonotic human G8P[14] rotavirus strain. Infect Genet Evol. 10(7): 1140-1144.
- Bartges J, Boynton B, Vogt AH, Krauter E, Lambrecht K, Svec R and Thompson S 2012. AAHA Canine Life Stage Guidelines*. Journal of the American Animal Hospital Association. 48(1): 1-11.
- Ben Hadj Fredj M, Heylen E, Zeller M, Fodha I, Benhamida-Rebai M, Van Ranst M, Matthijnssens J and Trabelsi A 2013. Feline origin of rotavirus strain, Tunisia, 2008. Emerg Infect Dis. 19(4): 630-634.
- Butz AM, Fosarelli P, Dick J, Cusack T and Yolken R 1993. Prevalence of Rotavirus on High-Risk Fomites in Day-Care Facilities. Pediatrics. 92(2): 202-205.
- Charoenkul K, Janetanakit T, Bunpapong N, Boonyapisitsopa S, Tangwangvivat R,
 Suwannakarn K, Theamboonlers A, Poovorawan Y and Amonsin A 2020.
 Molecular characterization identifies intra-host recombination and zoonotic
 potential of canine rotavirus among dogs from Thailand. Transbound Emerg Dis.
 00: 1-13.
- Chieochansin T, Vutithanachot V, Phumpholsup T, Posuwan N, Theamboonlers A and Poovorawan Y 2016. The prevalence and genotype diversity of Human Rotavirus A circulating in Thailand, 2011-2014. Infect Genet Evol. 37: 129-136.
- Cooney MA, Gorrell RJ and Palombo EA 2001. Characterisation and phylogenetic analysis of the VP7 proteins of serotype G6 and G8 human rotaviruses. J Med Microbiol. 50(5): 462-467.
- De Grazia S, Martella V, Giammanco GM, Gòmara MI, Ramirez S, Cascio A, Colomba C and Arista S 2007. Canine-origin G3P[3] rotavirus strain in child with acute gastroenteritis. Emerg Infect Dis. 13(7): 1091-1093.
- Dennehy PH 2000. Transmission of rotavirus and other enteric pathogens in the home. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 19(10).
- Diwakarla S, Clark R and Palombo EA 2002. Expanding Distribution of Human Serotype G6 Rotaviruses in Australia. Microbiol Immunol. 46(7): 499-502.
- Doro R, Farkas SL, Martella V and Banyai K 2015. Zoonotic transmission of rotavirus: surveillance and control. Expert Rev Anti-infect Ther. 13(11): 1337-1350.
- Esona MD, Roy S, Rungsrisuriyachai K, Sanchez J, Vasquez L, Gomez V, Rios LA, Bowen MD and Vazquez M 2017. Characterization of a triple-recombinant, reassortant rotavirus strain from the Dominican Republic. J Gen Virol. 98(2): 134-142.
- Estes MK and Cohen J 1989. Rotavirus gene structure and function. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev. 53(4): 410-449.
- German AC, Iturriza-Gomara M, Dove W, Sandrasegaram M, Nakagomi T, Nakagomi O, Cunliffe N, Radford AD and Morgan KL 2015. Molecular epidemiology of rotavirus in cats in the United Kingdom. J Clin Microbiol. 53(2): 455-464.
- Ghosh S and Kobayashi N 2011. Whole-genomic analysis of rotavirus strains: current status and future prospects. Future Microbiol. 6(9): 1049-1065.

Grant L, Esona M, Gentsch J, Watt J, Reid R, Weatherholtz R, Santosham M, Parashar U

and O'Brien K 2011. Detection of G3P[3] and G3P[9] rotavirus strains in American Indian children with evidence of gene reassortment between human and animal rotaviruses. J Med Virol. 83(7): 1288-1299.

- Griffin DD, Nakagomi T, Hoshino Y, Nakagomi O, Kirkwood CD, Parashar UD, Glass RI and Gentsch JR 2002. Characterization of nontypeable rotavirus strains from the United States: identification of a new rotavirus reassortant (P2A[6],G12) and rare P3[9] strains related to bovine rotaviruses. Virology. 294(2): 256-269.
- He B, Yang F, Yang W, Zhang Y, Feng Y, Zhou J, Xie J, Feng Y, Bao X, Guo H, Li Y, Xia L, Li N, Matthijnssens J, Zhang H and Tu C 2013. Characterization of a novel G3P[3] rotavirus isolated from a lesser horseshoe bat: a distant relative of feline/canine rotaviruses. J Virol. 87(22): 12357-12366.
- Hoshino Y, Baldwin CA and Scott FW 1981. Isolation and characterization of feline rotavirus. J Gen Virol. 54(2).
- Hoshino Y, Wyatt RG, Scott FW and Appel MJ 1982. Isolation and characterization of a canine rotavirus. Arch Virol. 72(1-2): 113-125.
- Hoxie I and Dennehy JJ 2020. Intragenic recombination influences rotavirus diversity and evolution. Virus Evol. 6(1): vez059.
- Intusoma U, Sornsrivichai V, Jiraphongsa C and Varavithaya W 2008. Epidemiology, clinical presentations and burden of rotavirus diarrhea in children under five seen at Ramathibodi Hospital, Thailand. J Med Assoc Thai. 91(9): 1350-1355.
- Kang BK, Song D, Jung KI, Lee CS, Park SJ, Oh JS, An DJ, Yang JS, Moon HJ, Lee SS, Yoon YD and Park BK 2007. Genetic characterization of canine rotavirus isolated from a puppy in Korea and experimental reproduction of disease. J Vet Diagn Investig. 19(1): 78-83.
- Khamrin P, Maneekarn N, Peerakome S, Malasao R, Thongprachum A, Chan-It W,
 Mizuguchi M, Okitsu S and Ushijima H 2009. Molecular characterization of VP4,
 VP6, VP7, NSP4, and NSP5/6 genes identifies an unusual G3P[10] human
 rotavirus strain. J Med Virol. 81(1): 176-182.
- Khamrin P, Maneekarn N, Peerakome S, Yagyu F, Okitsu S and Ushijima H 2006. Molecular characterization of a rare G3P[3] human rotavirus reassortant strain reveals evidence for multiple human-animal interspecies transmissions. J Med

Virol. 78(7): 986-994.

- Khananurak K, Vutithanachot V, Simakachorn N, Theamboonlers A, Chongsrisawat V and Poovorawan Y 2010. Prevalence and phylogenetic analysis of rotavirus genotypes in Thailand between 2007 and 2009. Infect Genet Evol. 10(4): 537-545.
- Kittigul L, Swangsri T, Pombubpa K, Howteerakul N, Diraphat P and Hirunpetcharat C 2014. Rotavirus infection in children and adults with acute gastroenteritis in Thailand. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health. 45(4): 816-824.
- Komoto S, Tacharoenmuang R, Guntapong R, Upachai S, Singchai P, Ide T, Fukuda S, Hatazawa R, Sutthiwarakom K, Kongjorn S, Onvimala N, Luechakham T, Sriwanthana B, Murata T, Uppapong B and Taniguchi K 2021. Genomic characterization of a novel G3P[10] rotavirus strain from a diarrheic child in Thailand: Evidence for bat-to-human zoonotic transmission. Infect Genet Evol. 87: 104667.
- Luchs A, Cilli A, Morillo SG, Carmona Rde C and Timenetsky Mdo C 2012. Rare G3P[3] rotavirus strain detected in Brazil: possible human-canine interspecies transmission. J Clin Virol. 54(1): 89-92.
- Martella V, Banyai K, Matthijnssens J, Buonavoglia C and Ciarlet M 2010. Zoonotic aspects of rotaviruses. Vet Microbiol. 140(3-4): 246-255.
- Martella V, Potgieter AC, Lorusso E, De Grazia S, Giammanco GM, Matthijnssens J, Bányai K, Ciarlet M, Lavazza A, Decaro N and Buonavoglia C 2011. A feline rotavirus G3P[9] carries traces of multiple reassortment events and resembles rare human G3P[9] rotaviruses. J Gen Virol. 92(5): 1214-1221.
- Martella V, Pratelli A, Elia G, Decaro N, Tempesta M and Buonavoglia C 2001a. Isolation and genetic characterization of two G3P5A[3] canine rotavirus strains in Italy. J Virol Methods. 96(1): 43-49.
- Martella V, Pratelli A, Greco G, Gentile M, Fiorente P, Tempesta M and Buonavoglia C 2001b. Nucleotide sequence variation of the VP7 gene of two G3-type rotaviruses isolated from dogs. Virus Res. 74(1-2): 17-25.
- Marthaler D, Rossow K, Culhane M, Goyal S, Collins J, Matthijnssens J, Nelson M and Ciarlet M 2014. Widespread rotavirus H in commercially raised pigs, United

States. Emerg Infect Dis. 20(7): 1195-1198.

- Matthijnssens J, Ciarlet M, Heiman E, Arijs I, Delbeke T, McDonald SM, Palombo EA, Iturriza-Gómara M, Maes P, Patton JT, Rahman M and Van Ranst M 2008a. Full genome-based classification of rotaviruses reveals a common origin between human wa-like and porcine rotavirus strains and human DS-1-like and bovine rotavirus strains. J Virol Methods. 82(7): 3204-3219.
- Matthijnssens J, Ciarlet M, McDonald SM, Attoui H, Banyai K, Brister JR, Buesa J, Esona MD, Estes MK, Gentsch JR, Iturriza-Gomara M, Johne R, Kirkwood CD, Martella V, Mertens PP, Nakagomi O, Parreno V, Rahman M, Ruggeri FM, Saif LJ, Santos N, Steyer A, Taniguchi K, Patton JT, Desselberger U and Van Ranst M 2011a. Uniformity of rotavirus strain nomenclature proposed by the Rotavirus Classification Working Group (RCWG). Arch Virol. 156(8): 1397-1413.
- Matthijnssens J, Ciarlet M, Rahman M, Attoui H, Banyai K, Estes MK, Gentsch JR, Iturriza-Gomara M, Kirkwood CD, Martella V, Mertens PP, Nakagomi O, Patton JT, Ruggeri FM, Saif LJ, Santos N, Steyer A, Taniguchi K, Desselberger U and Van Ranst M 2008b. Recommendations for the classification of group A rotaviruses using all 11 genomic RNA segments. Arch Virol. 153(8): 1621-1629.
- Matthijnssens J, De Grazia J, Piessens J, Heylen E, Zeller M, Giammanco GM, Bányai K, Buonavoglia C, Ciarlet M, Martella V and Van Ranst M 2011b. Multiple reassortment and interspecies transmission events contribute to the diversity of feline, canine and feline/canine-like human group A rotavirus strains. Infect Genet Evol. 11(6): 1396-1406.
- Matthijnssens J, Otto PH, Ciarlet M, Desselberger U, Van Ranst M and Johne R 2012. VP6-sequence-based cutoff values as a criterion for rotavirus species demarcation. Arch Virol. 157(6): 1177-1182.
- Matthijnssens J, Taraporewala ZF, Yang H, Rao S, Yuan L, Cao D, Hoshino Y, Mertens PP, Carner GR, McNeal M, Sestak K, Van Ranst M and Patton JT 2010. Simian rotaviruses possess divergent gene constellations that originated from interspecies transmission and reassortment. J Virol. 84(4): 2013-2026.
- Matthijnssens J and Van Ranst M 2012. Genotype constellation and evolution of group A rotaviruses infecting humans. Curr Opin Virol. 2(4): 426-433.

- Mihalov-Kovács E, Gellért Á, Marton S, Farkas SL, Fehér E, Oldal M, Jakab F, Martella V and Bányai K 2015. Candidate new rotavirus species in sheltered dogs, Hungary. Emerg Infect Dis. 21(4): 660-663.
- Mino S, Matthijnssens J, Badaracco A, Garaicoechea L, Zeller M, Heylen E, Van Ranst M, Barrandeguy M and Parreno V 2013. Equine G3P[3] rotavirus strain E3198 related to simian RRV and feline/canine-like rotaviruses based on complete genome analyses. Vet Microbiol. 161(3-4): 239-246.
- Mochizuki M, Nakagomi T and Nakagomi O 1997. Isolation from diarrheal and asymptomatic kittens of three rotavirus strains that belong to the AU-1 genogroup of human rotaviruses. J Clin Microbiol. 35(5): 1272-1275.
- Molinari BL, Lorenzetti E, Otonel RA, Alfieri AF and Alfieri AA 2014. Species H rotavirus detected in piglets with diarrhea, Brazil, 2012. Emerg Infect Dis. 20(6): 1019-1022.
- Mosallanejad B, Shapouri MRS, Avizeh R and Pourmahdi M 2015. Antigenic detection of Canine rotavirus group A in diarrheic dogs in Ahvaz district, Southwestern Iran. Comp Clin Path. 24(4): 899-902.
- Nakagomi O, Ohshima A, Aboudy Y, Shif I, Mochizuki M, Nakagomi T and Gotlieb-Stematsky T 1990. Molecular identification by RNA-RNA hybridization of a human rotavirus that is closely related to rotaviruses of feline and canine origin. J Clin Microbiol. 28(6): 1198.
- Nakagomi T, Agbemabiese CA and Nakagomi O 2018. Full genotype constellations of six feline Rotavirus A strains isolated in Japan in the 1990s including a rare A15 NSP1 genotype. Arch Virol. 163(8): 2257-2260.
- Nakagomi T, Matsuda Y, Ohshima A, Mochizuki M and Nakagomi O 1989. Characterization of a canine rotavirus strain by neutralization and molecular hybridization assays. Arch Virol. 106(1): 145-150.
- Nakagomi T and Nakagomi O 1989. RNA-RNA hybridization identifies a human rotavirus that is genetically related to feline rotavirus. J Virol. 63(3): 1431-1434.
- Nelson EA, Bresee JS, Parashar UD, Widdowson MA and Glass RI 2008. Rotavirus epidemiology: the Asian Rotavirus Surveillance Network. Vaccine. 26(26): 3192-3196.

Novikova NV, V. PN, Novikov DV, Prilipov AG, Epifanova NV and Golitsyna LN 2008.

Nucleotide sequence analysis of the NSP4 gene from group A rotaviruses isolated in Nizhni Novgorod. Vopr Virusol. 53(6): 35-39.

- Okitsu S, Hikita T, Thongprachum A, Khamrin P, Takanashi S, Hayakawa S, Maneekarn N and Ushijima H 2018. Detection and molecular characterization of two rare G8P[14] and G3P[3] rotavirus strains collected from children with acute gastroenteritis in Japan. Infect Genet Evol. 62: 95-108.
- Ortega AF, Martinez-Castaneda JS, Bautista-Gomez LG, Munoz RF and Hernandez IQ 2017. Identification of co-infection by rotavirus and parvovirus in dogs with gastroenteritis in Mexico. Braz J Microbiol. 48(4): 769-773.
- Otto PH, Rosenhain S, Elschner MC, Hotzel H, Machnowska P, Trojnar E, Hoffmann K and Johne R 2015. Detection of rotavirus species A, B and C in domestic mammalian animals with diarrhoea and genotyping of bovine species A rotavirus strains. Vet Microbiol. 179(3-4): 168-176.
- Palumbo E, Malorgio C, Siani A and Bonora G 2009. Diarrhoea in children: aetiology and clinical aspects. Infez Med. 2: 95-99.
- Parashar UD, Gibson CJ, Bresee JS and Glass RI 2006. Rotavirus and severe childhood diarrhea. Emerg Infect Dis. 12(2): 304-306.
- Parra GI, Bok K, Martinez M and Gomez JA 2004. Evidence of rotavirus intragenic recombination between two sublineages of the same genotype. J Gen Virol. 85(Pt 6): 1713-1716.
- Patel MM, Pitzer VE, Alonso WJ, Vera D, Lopman B, Tate J, Viboud C and Parashar UD 2013. Global seasonality of rotavirus disease. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 32(4): e134-147.
- Pesavento JB, Crawford SE, Estes MK and Venkataram Prasad BV 2006. Rotavirus Proteins: Structure and Assembly. In: Reoviruses: Entry, Assembly and Morphogenesis. Polly Roy (ed). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg. 189-219.
- Phan TG, Okitsu S, Maneekarn N and Ushijima H 2007. Evidence of intragenic recombination in G1 rotavirus VP7 genes. J Virol. 81(18): 10188-10194.
- Saikruang W, Khamrin P, Chaimongkol N, Suantai B, Kongkaew A, Kongkaew S, Ushijima H and Maneekarn N 2013. Genetic diversity and novel combinations of G4P[19]

and G9P[19] porcine rotavirus strains in Thailand. Vet Microbiol. 161(3-4): 255-262.

- Santos N, Volotão E, Soares CC, Albuquerque MC, da Silva FM, de Carvalho TR, Pereira CF, Chizhikov V and Hoshino Y 2001. Rotavirus strains bearing genotype G9 or P[9] recovered from Brazilian children with diarrhea from 1997 to 1999. J Clin Microbiol. 39(3): 1157-1560.
- Sasaki M, Orba Y, Sasaki S, Gonzalez G, Ishii A, Hang'ombe BM, Mweene AS, Ito K and Sawa H 2016. Multi-reassortant G3P[3] group A rotavirus in a horseshoe bat in Zambia. J Gen Virol. 97(10): 2488-2493.
- Silberstein I, Shulman LM, Mendelson E and Shif I 1995. Distribution of both rotavirus VP4 genotypes and VP7 serotypes among hospitalized and nonhospitalized Israeli children. J Clin Microbiol. 33(5): 1421-1422.
- Tate JE, Burton AH, Boschi-Pinto C, Steele AD, Duque J and Parashar UD 2012. 2008 estimate of worldwide rotavirus-associated mortality in children younger than 5 years before the introduction of universal rotavirus vaccination programmes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis. 12(2): 136-141.
- Theamboonlers A, Maiklang O, Thongmee T, Chieochansin T, Vuthitanachot V and Poovorawan Y 2014. Complete genotype constellation of human rotavirus group A circulating in Thailand, 2008-2011. Infect Genet Evol. 21: 295-302.
- Tsugawa T and Hoshino Y 2008. Whole genome sequence and phylogenetic analyses reveal human rotavirus G3P[3] strains Ro1845 and HCR3A are examples of direct virion transmission of canine/feline rotaviruses to humans. Virology. 380(2): 344-353.
- Vogt AH, Rodan I, Brown M, Brown S, Buffington CAT, Forman MJL, Neilson J and Sparkes A 2010. AAFP-AAHA:Feline Life Stage Guidelines. 12(1): 43-54.
- Wu FT, Banyai K, Lin JS, Wu HS, Hsiung CA, Huang YC, Hwang KP, Jiang B and Gentsch JR 2012. Putative canine origin of rotavirus strain detected in a child with diarrhea, Taiwan. Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis. 12(2): 170-173.
- Yamamoto D, Kawaguchiya M, Ghosh S, Ichikawa M, Numazaki K and Kobayashi N 2011. Detection and full genomic analysis of G6P[9] human rotavirus in Japan. Virus Genes. 43: 215-223.

Zeng SQ, Halkosalo A, Salminen M, Szakal ED, Puustinen L and Vesikari T 2008. Onestep quantitative RT-PCR for the detection of rotavirus in acute gastroenteritis. J Virol Methods. 153(2): 238-240.



Chulalongkorn University



Chulalongkorn University

VITA

NAME

Ekkapat Chamsai

DATE OF BIRTH

22 Feb 1991

PLACE OF BIRTH

Bangkok, Thailand



Chulalongkorn University